

Beyond the Odds: The Celebrity Factor and Warning Messages in Gambling Advertisements

Researcher: Student number: Supervisor:

Program:

Date:

Marnix Botter 1983016 Dr. Agata Leszkiewicz Dr. Mirjam Galetzka Communication Studies Business Administration (Double Degree) 11-08-2023

University of Twente Faculty of Behavioural, Management and Social Sciences

UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

Abstract:

This study aimed to examine the effect of a warning message and the presence and congruence of a celebrity in a gambling advertisement on consumers' brand attitude, purchase intention, and responsible gambling behaviour. Using a 3x2 experimental research design, the main research question addressed the extent to which the presence and congruence of celebrities in gambling advertisements, along with the addition of warning messages, affected these variables.

To be able to measure this, a questionnaire was created. In total, 192 individuals participated in the study. These participants were randomly assigned to one of the six different sports gambling advertisements and were asked to fill in questions after viewing it.

The results of the experiment revealed mainly insignificant effects. However, the study contributes to the existing research on the impact of celebrities and warning messages in gambling advertisements.

Although this research did not find direct effects, the marginal means suggest that further investigation may uncover an effect. Specifically, the results of the presence of a celebrity on the brand attitude presented a marginally significant effect, suggesting a possible effect.

Although this study presents that celebrities and warning messages do not have a direct impact on brand attitude, purchase intention, and responsible gambling, policymakers are advised to delve deeper into this topic to limit the effectiveness of gambling advertisements in persuading individuals to engage in these activities. Gambling poses a concealed danger in an appealing package, and additional research in this area can help develop effective strategies to address this issue.

Keywords: Celebrity, Endorsements, Advertising, Gambling, Warning Message, Responsible Gambling, Purchase Intention, Brand Attitude

Table of contents

1. Introduction	4
2. Theoretical framework	
2.1 Gambling Advertising	8
2.2 Brand Attitude	10
2.3 Purchase intention	11
2.4 Responsible gambling	12
2.5 Use of celebrities in advertising	13
2.6 Congruence between celebrities and brand	16
2.7 Warning messages in gambling	18
2.8 Interaction effect between celebrities and warning messages	23
2.9 Conceptual model	24
3 Preliminary Experiment	25
3.1 Participants	25
3.2 Procedure	25
3.3 Results	26
4 Main experiment	28
4.2 Participants	29
4.3 Procedure	30
4.4 Stimuli material	31
5 Results	32
5.1 Impact of celebrities on Brand Attitude, Purchase Intention and Responsible Gamblin	ıg32
5.2 Impact of warning messages on Brand Attitude, Purchase Intention and Responsible	Gambling 32
5.3 Impact of the interaction between celebrities and warning message on Brand Attitude	, Purchase
5.4. Additional Analysis	
5.4 Additional Analyses	
6.1 Discussion of the results	
6.2 Theoretical and practical implications	
6.2 Limitations	
6.4 Euture recearch	
0.4 Future research	
References	+1 12
Annendices	
Appendices	
Appendix P. Effect of Warning message on RA PI and RG	 57
rependent D. Enter of maning message on Dry, I and RO	

Appendix C: Effect of celebrity presence on BA, PI & RG	59
Appendix D: Effect of celebrity congruence on BA, PI & RG	61
Appendix E: Interaction effect of Warning Messages & Celebrities	63
Appendix F: Models of outcomes of interaction effect on Purchase Intention and Responsible Gambling	66

1. Introduction

Since the first of October 2021, advertisements of gambling companies have been legalized in the Netherlands (NOS, 2021). Because of this legalization, the gambling industry is targeting gamblers with an excess of advertisements. This large number of gambling advertisements resulted in much criticism. In November last year, barely a month after the introduction of the law, a motion was presented in the House of Representatives for a ban on untargeted gambling advertisements (NOS, 2021). A month later, the motion received support from a majority in the House of Representatives. To tackle this, it was decided to change the advertising code.

The advertising code in The Netherlands states that gambling companies apply a time slot for gambling advertisements and do not target vulnerable groups. According to the code, this includes minors, young adults, persons with mental disabilities, gambling addicts and persons displaying characteristics of risky gaming behaviour (Kansspelauthoriteit, 2022).

Despite the tightened law, the advertising code and the time slot beyond which no gambling advertisements can be shown on radio and television, there are still many gambling advertisements which are still being targeted at vulnerable groups, according to experts (NOS, 2021). In addition, these advertisements made use of celebrities fitting the target group of the advertisement. For example, the advertisement of Toto, a betting company focused on football matches, has used famous football players such as Wesley Sneijder, Andy van der Meijde and Dick Advocaat to promote their services.

The study by Felsher et al. (2004) found that 39% of adolescent viewers of a lottery advertisement stated that seeing the advertisement increased their likelihood of purchasing a lottery ticket. Additionally, Lee et. Al (2007) discovered that individuals who were exposed frequently to poker advertisements had more positive views regarding gambling advertisements. These individuals also had higher intent to gamble in the future compared to those who had lower positive attitudes. Derevensky et al. (2010) worryingly presented that from a global sample group of 1200 individuals between 12 and 19, 96% indicated that they have seen gambling advertisements on television. Furthermore, 58% of Australian students reported seeing gambling advertising on their Facebook timeline, according to O'Loughlin and Blaszcynski (2018).

In the research of Clemens, Hanewinkel and Morgenstern (2017), it was presented that high gambling advertisement exposure was positively related to an increase in gambling behaviour among adolescents. This is supported by Parrado-Gonzalez (2019), who discovered that exposure to gambling advertising also had a direct effect on gambling frequency, which, moreover, mediated its impact on problem gambling.

The impact these gambling advertisements have on both societal and individual levels is colossal. As presented by Molde et al. (2019), problematic gamblers were more likely to be aware of gambling advertisements. Additionally, this would also lead to an increment in their involvement with gambling advertisements. More worryingly, Gainsbury et al. (2016) showed that problematic gamblers are targeted for these advertisements on social media more than non-problematic gamblers. In addition, two other strong predictors of the intention to gamble were the male gender and subjective norms. The results of the study of Clemens et al. (2016) presented similar outcomes, showing that gambling frequency is positively associated with advertising recall. However, more worryingly in this research is the sample group, which consisted of youngsters between 13 and 25 years old.

This susceptibility of younger people to gambling advertisements is also underlined by Abdi et al. (2013), who reported that the problem of gambling among teenagers is possibly influenced by gambling advertisements. The study also underlines that males are significantly more vulnerable to this persuasion in comparison to females. Especially in the case of sports betting, where the majority of the viewers are male (Statista, 2023), it is worrying that there is a growing trend of betting advertisements in this sector.

In the study of Muggleton et al. (2021), the relation between gambling and financial, social and health outcomes based on 6.5 million individuals is measured. The results presented that gambling was associated with a variety of negative effects, such as increased financial stress, worse general well-being, higher chances of future unemployment, and even higher levels of mortality. The availability of gambling on the internet makes it easier for gamblers to participate because of the digital modes of payment, constant accessibility, anonymity, convenience, and ease of play, as well as greater levels of immersive gameplay (McCornack & Griffiths, 2013).

Celebrity endorsement in advertising is not a recent phenomenon. As presented by Kaikati (1987), it is apparent that the endorsement of products by celebrities has been around since the late nineteenth century. One of the first documented examples is the presence of Queen Victoria endorsing Cadbury's Cocoa in 1890. Here, the former monarch is drawn in a train coupe, enjoying a cup of chocolate milk. With the current rapid evolvement of technology, the possibilities to expose customers to advertisements have expanded widely.

Awasthi and Choraria (2015) reveal that a celebrity's trustworthiness and appeal positively influence the attitude of the consumer towards the product. This is supported by Negin et al. (2019), who discovered that celebrity endorsement has a significant impact on persuading online users' purchase intention. However, they indicated the importance of the alignment of the characteristics of the celebrity with the advertisement. This congruence is also supported by Um & Yang (2020), who suggested that consumers' attitudes regarding advertisements, brands, or purchase intentions are affected by congruence, identification, and consumers' attribution styles. However, current research on the effect of celebrity endorsement in gambling advertisements is minimal.

In other sectors where addiction is prevalent, warning messages are often presented, either on the product or before, during, or after the advertisement. In Europe, for instance, warnings are printed on the packaging of cigarettes. According to Hammond (2011), detailed warnings are effective in preventing young people from starting to smoke. These warnings, however, are currently minimally used in gambling advertisements. The present landscape of paid-for gambling advertising in the United Kingdom was examined by Critchlow et al. (2020). The study's findings showed that age restrictions nor warnings were apparent in at least one of ten gambling advertisements. Moreover, when this information was included, it was less visible than the promoted item and frequently displayed in small print or outside the main frame.

This research is specifically interesting for the fields of marketing and communication science, since it is of interest how the use of celebrities increases the communication of the product to the customers and to see if this use has the same effect as in general product endorsement of celebrities. In addition, the study can have practical implications for policymakers and regulators regarding the

regulation of celebrity endorsements in gambling advertising and the addition of warning messages. Besides, it may also assist in creating awareness among the vulnerable groups of our society.

Therefore, the main research question is:

"To what extent do the presence and congruence of celebrities in gambling advertisements and the addition of warning messages influence the brand attitude towards the brand, the purchase intention and responsible gambling?"

2. Theoretical framework

2.1 Gambling Advertising

Advertising, whether it be on an international, national, or local level, is important because it can reach audiences by educating, motivating, or reminding them of a brand's existence, or by persuading or assisting those to differentiate a product or organization from others in the market that they get motivated to purchase a product (Fill, 2002).

The presence of gambling advertisements seemingly made a surge in the last decade. As presented by Duncan (2018) 17% of the advertisements during the coverage of FIFA's 2018 World Cup were from gambling organizations, resulting in almost one and a half hours of total coverage during the tournament. In the English Premier League, the number of football teams wearing a gambling sponsor on their crest increased from just four in 2008 to ten teams, out of twenty, in 2017 (Lopez-Gonzalez & Griffiths, 2017).

Gambling companies also try to embed their marketing strategy into different forms of media. Hing et al. (2015) presented that during National Rugby League matches in Australia, betting-odds discussions were present during half-time shows, and even during the live commentary of matches the odds were mentioned.

Online gambling marketing is a trend that evolved in recent years. Here, it becomes apparent that social media is the core service of this promotion. O'Loughlin and Blaszcynski (2018) discovered that 58% of Australian students remembered seeing a gambling advertisement on their Facebook timeline. In addition, Nyemcsok et al. (2018) presented that 55% of 11- to 16-year-old basketball fans recalled seeing these advertisements show up on their timeline. As presented by Matz et al. (2017), these online advertisements tend to target consumers on an individual level. For example, one specific personal attribute, in this case being a sports enjoyer, might be utilized in the targeting of online gambling marketing.

Newall et al. (2019) suggest three different categories in which gambling marketing can be placed, namely brand awareness, financial incentives and odds advertising. An advertisement based on brand awareness is referred to as any marketing message that seeks to remind customers of the presence of a gambling brand but does not include any more substantial financial incentives, reference betting odds, or highlight any product characteristics. According to Lindsay et al. (2013), advertising focused on brand awareness may result in a heavy concentration of betting logos during sports broadcast or their presence as boards on the sides of a football pitch.

Financial incentives appear in various matters. The study of Hing et al. (2016) found fifteen different types of incentives, like sign-up bonuses, referrals, and "risk-free" bettings, offering a refund when the bet turned out to be incorrect. These stimuli were filled with specific conditions and fine prints. These different conditions seem to be based on psychological concepts. Thaler and Johnson (1990) already presented the effects of prior outcomes on risky decisions. The consensus of this article is that earned money during these risky decisions is not perceived as "your" money, which results in less cautious behaviour. Reflecting this on the case of gambling, when consumers are using money that they believe they have gained through gambling rather than their own money, gamblers may be much more risk-averse, which is important to increased odds.

Thirdly, Newall et al. (2019) presented odds-advertising as a category of gambling marketing. This type of marketing focuses on the promotion of odds and mainly tries to convince the consumer by advertising absurd odds. Here, think of odds like "Team X to score first and player Y receives a yellow card". Cortis (2015) presents that these types of odds are always to the advantage of the bookmakers since the quotation is rated so high that the profit margin is always resulting in a profit for the bookies.

As presented by Browne et al. (2019), the frequency, variety, and intensity of gambling advertising have all increased recently. Significant industry expenditure, particularly in nations that have already liberalized gambling like the United Kingdom, The Netherlands and Australia, has made this development possible.

A growing body of academic research supports the idea that gambling advertisements may contain information that is considered deceptive, make use of demographic targeting, and include embedded promotions.

2.2 Brand Attitude

According to Percy and Rossiter (1992), the connection between a potential customer's engagement in the buying decision and the underlying motive to purchase is considered as being reflected in the brand attitude strategy. Here, they presented a model, explaining the effects of low- and high involvement in a brand. The brand attitude of a gambling company is influenced by the overall perception and evaluation of the company by consumers and other stakeholders.

Aaker (1991) additionally presented the awareness pyramid, which categorized the four different classifications of brand awareness. Here, these categories are divided into "Unaware of the brand", "Brand recognition", "Brand recall" and "Top of mind".

Burmann, Jost-Benz and Riley (2009) presented the brand equity model, which suggests that a company's brand equity, or the value and strength of its brand, is determined by a combination of its brand awareness, perceived quality, brand associations, and other factors. In the context of gambling companies, these factors could include the company's history, reputation, and track record, as well as its marketing and advertising efforts, customer service, and social responsibility initiatives.

The brand attitude is influenced by various factors. However, in most studies, the focus is laid on the advertising element. Gardner (2018) concluded that the attitude towards an advertisement strongly influences the attitude towards the brand. Rhee & Jung (2017) suggested that brand familiarity positively influences the appeal of the advertisement and, additionally, attitude towards the advertisement predicts the brand attitude. As mentioned priorly, studies from Albert et al. (2017), Pradhan & Duraipandian (2014) and Arora et al. (2021) on celebrity endorsements already presented that a congruence within advertisements would lead to a higher brand attitude by the consumer.

However, it seems that brand attitude is also influenced by intrinsic factors. For instance, the role of consumer characteristics and behaviours seems to influence the formation of brand attitudes (Brick & Fournier, 2017) towards gambling companies. For example, consumer attitudes towards gambling, as well as their personal experiences and interactions with gambling companies, can influence their overall brand attitudes. Additionally, the study by Ahn et al. (2019) presented that both extrinsic motivation and obsessive passion for a brand positively influenced brand attitude. These characteristics are often found in the gambling environment. Extrinsic motivations, such as "easy

earnings" are factors that could attract people that require this. Obsessive passion is also very much apparent in the gambling industry since most players are "long players" (Chang, 2004).

The study of Parke et al. (2015) presented that especially with the evolution of social media, new marketing strategies may create an emotional and favourable perception of gambling businesses and goods, thus increasing the brand attitude of the consumer. In their research, it is concluded that marketing and advertising in the gambling industry must help customers make better-informed decisions and that gambling has to be framed in a more balanced way to reduce the brand attitude.

2.3 Purchase intention

As presented by Spears and Singh (2004), purchase intention describes a person's conscious decision to purchase a product or service from a brand. The conclusion of the individual whether to buy or abstain from a product could be influenced by various factors. As presented by Brown, Pope and Voges (2003), product type, past purchases, and, to a lesser extent, gender, are variables more likely to affect purchase intention. Additionally, Kyto et al. (2019) explained that purchase intention is an important factor in predicting purchase behaviour, and therefore critical for a critical element in the process of selling a product or service.

The study of Jerome et al. (2010) focused on the effect of online advertising. In their research, they have presented that online advertising generates a positive influence on the purchase intention of the consumer. More interestingly, they revealed that the feature of a picture in the advertisements results in the highest possibility of purchase intention. A lesser, but still present, effect is also presented by cognitive and affective emotions from the consumers. In addition, they also presented that respondents with exposure to familiar elements in pictures have an increased possibility for a purchase intention. In the current research, this principle of familiarity is apparent on three different levels, namely brand familiarity (Das, 2015), product familiarity (Fan et al., 2015) and recognition of elements (Weismuller et al., 2020). In all of these three levels, familiarity presented a positive effect on the purchase intention of the consumer.

According to the findings of Tan et al. (2021), advertisements that are more convincing and informative present a positive effect on both brand awareness and the purchase intention of the consumer. This is supported by Akbari (2015), who discovered that the rational and emotional

advertising appeal in online advertising positively influences the purchase intention. However, this study also created a distinctive difference between the measured products, namely "low involvement products", which are explained as products that require a minimal level of engagement of the consumer, and "high involvement products", which are more expensive products that require more prior research before purchasing.

Interestingly, Akbari (2015) discovers that for high-involvement items, rational arguments are more persuasive, but emotional appeals, such as persuasive slogans or appealing pictures, have a greater impact on the purchase intention for low-involvement products. Since this study is focused on an arguably low-involvement product, in this case, a gambling service, it would mean that an emotional approach for an advertisement would be more successful for persuasion.

However, current research on the relationship between gambling advertisements and purchase intention is limited. Bougettaya et al. (2020) reviewed the relationship between gambling advertisements and the attitudes, behaviours and intentions of consumers. Here, they discovered that exposure to gambling advertising is positively associated with the purchase intention of the consumer.

2.4 Responsible gambling

The terminology for "Responsible Gambling" is derived from industry-based voluntary codes of behaviour that first appeared as a result of pressure from the state and the public (Blaszczynski, 2011). These early codes of conduct were created by the gambling industry to provide "Mission Statements," "Principles," and "Guidelines" that companies should adhere to to ensure a safe gambling product or environment. These codes were provided by government-imposed legislation or directives designed to promote consumer protection, harm reduction and harm minimization.

According to Blaszczynski (2011), These guidelines were reached by three different actions. Firstly, educating people about gambling's nature as a form of entertainment with accompanying risks such as the risk of becoming overly obsessed with it and developing an inability to stop or control it despite harming social, legal, occupational, and familial functioning. Secondly, encouraging individuals to place wagers within their financial capabilities and thirdly, providing enough information about a game so that participants can make educated choices about their participation in gambling activities.

Although Blaszczynski (2011) argues that these guidelines are the bare minimum to be able to successfully implement Responsible Gambling, Livingstone and Rintoul (2020) argue that although Responsible Gambling is the considered approach for minimizing gambling's negative effects, it is becoming gradually more obvious that it is not fitting the purpose. Here, it is argued that Responsible Gambling refers to a guideline that is in favour of the industry and transfers the blame for the harm of gambling to the users while disregarding the potential harm caused by gambling. Therefore, they believe that gambling products could also be modified to protect the customer.

Currently, although there is no official regulation to have it implemented, there are already various responsible gambling practices apparent, ranging from age limits, information about problem gambling, links to websites offering help with gambling addiction, self-exclusion programs and online counselling sessions (Wood & Williams, 2007). However, in practice, these measurements are often hidden. Only half of the thirty internet gambling websites investigated in the UK made considerable efforts to confirm users' ages, and only seven of them made specific mentions of problem gambling. Additionally, only 60% of the top 20 British-visited online gambling sites offered information about problem gambling and/or a link to a Gambler's Anonymous website (Jawad & Griffiths, 2008).

It is of essence to understand the causes of problem gambling behaviour to be able to develop harm-minimization measures that are efficient. The main characteristic of problem gambling behaviour, according to Monaghan (2008) is a lack of self-control that leads to excessive gaming time and money expenditures. This behaviour might be triggered by a loss of interest in play, gambling engrossment, or attentional focus. According to research, most gamblers suffer dissociation when playing, including losing track of time, feeling like a different person, and feeling "outside" of oneself. The degree of dissociation also rises with the severity of gambling illness (Monaghan, 2008). Therefore, it is important to understand and further research the effect of responsible gambling.

2.5 Use of celebrities in advertising

The use of celebrities in advertisements is not a recent development. As presented by Kaikati (1987), it is apparent that the endorsement of products by celebrities has been around since the late nineteenth century. One of the first documented examples is the presence of Queen Victoria endorsing Cadbury's Cocoa in 1890. Here, the former monarch is drawn in a train coupe, enjoying a cup of chocolate milk.

With the technology developing rapidly in the years after, the market for the use of celebrities in advertising also emerges. Specifically, the expansion from static images to videos and audio assisted in the growth of advertisements. However, Kaikati (1987) presented that the "supply of stars" during this time was limited, since the celebrities were hesitant in engaging in these advertisements. In the last decade, a quarter of television and print advertisements that were presented in the United States were featured by celebrities (Shimp, 2008).

The source credibility and source attractiveness models (Seiler & Kucza, 2017) are typically used to analyse the efficacy of celebrity endorsement. Several forms of testimonials, celebrity and expert, are examined with the use of this model. Here, the fit between the product and the testimonial with the customer's image is studied. Contrary to congruence, product fit positively affects how people feel about the advertisement, which in turn influences how they feel about the company and how likely they are to make a purchase. Its efficacy is significantly influenced by reliable testimonies, with reliability serving as the main motivator.

The adoption of celebrity endorsements in advertising carries both benefits and risks. As presented by Sherman (1997), who aimed to identify the effect of celebrity endorsement on the profitability of the company, the announcement of endorsement deals with celebrities resulted in a substantial percentage of favourable abnormal returns to the sponsoring firms, which saw their market value increase by 44%

Additionally, the use of celebrity endorsements positively influences maintaining the consumer's attention on the advertisement (Erdogan, 1999). This is supported by both Atkin and Block (1983) and Petty and Cacioppo (1983), who presented that the feature of a celebrity results in greater consumer attention.

Furthermore, according to Sherman (1985), celebrities can lead advertisements to stand out from the media clutter, which improves the communication of the advertisement since it removes the noise in the communication process, as presented in the communication model by Shannon (1948).

Moreover, celebrity endorsements improved brand recall and recognition (Friedman & Friedman, 1979), brand attitude (Pradhan et al., 2014) and purchase intention (La Ferle & Choi, 2005).

Interestingly, Ndlela and Chuchu (2016) discovered that participants between 18 and 20 years old were more likely than any other age group to purchase and pay extra for celebrity-endorsed products, hinting that younger age groups are more vulnerable to this persuasion.

Interestingly, celebrities can also be used the other way around to prevent gambling behaviour. According to Shead et al. (2010), It should boost issue-relevant processing among youngsters who are heavily involved in gambling and give the message more credibility by using a celebrity figure associated with gambling.

Biswas et al. (2014) measured the effects of both celebrity- and expert endorsements on consumer risk perceptions. Here, their study suggests that customer risk perceptions may be positively impacted by a perceived fit between the celebrity endorser and the product recommendation. In addition, they discovered that risk perception depends on the type of product that is endorsed. A person's endorsement of a high-tech product who is considered an expert in that field is more successful at lowering perceived risk than endorsements from celebrities or non-celebrity non-experts. However, for low technology-oriented products, these differential effects are nonexistent.

More interestingly, they found that for products and services that have an impact on the financials of the individual, such as betting, the celebrity that is congruent with the message positively influences the risk awareness of the consumer.

Three separate hypotheses have been developed based on this earlier research to investigate the impact of celebrity appearances in gambling advertisements.

H1: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement results in a higher brand attitude.

H2: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement results in a higher willingness to play.

H3: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement results in less responsible gambling.

2.6 Congruence between celebrities and brand

The model of Guptka and Kishor (2017) narrows down the five dimensions that celebrity endorsement can be measured on, the PATER-model. This model suggests that marketeers should focus on the popularity, attractiveness, trustworthiness, expertise and relevance of the celebrity. Specifically, the final part suggests that success would depend on the celebrity's relevance to the product category or brand being supported, his likeness to the product or brand, and if there is a substantive connection between the celebrity and the supported product or brand, therefore suggesting that an endorsement is more successful if the celebrity is relevant to the product.

Albert et al. (2017) measured the congruencies between the celebrity, brand and consumer. In this study, it is presented that the effectiveness of an endorsement, brand attitude, and commitment are highly influenced by celebrity-brand congruence, suggesting that the personality of the celebrity should be aligned with the ideas of the brand.

The reason why it is important to have relevant celebrities is clear. Arora et al. (2021) explain that a celebrity's association with a brand gives it a human face and contributes to personifying its image. In their study, they discovered that brand image and brand distinctiveness are influenced by the brand-celebrity fit. Both the brand image and distinctiveness have a positive effect on consumers' purchase intensions. This is also visible in the research of Pradhan & Duraipandian (2014), who also claim that a brand-celebrity fit has a significant effect on brand attitude and purchase intention.

The effectiveness of this is presented in the study by Knoll & Mathhes (2016), who presented that male celebrities who fit well with an item had the highest favourable attitude effects. Interestingly, the most negative effect in this study was found when a female celebrity was aligned with a product that did not match her. Pradhan & Duraipandian (2014) additionally mention that the current brand attitude of the consumer is a mediator in the perception of the congruence between celebrities and brands, meaning that an already negative prior brand attitude could result in a negative effect.

The Source Credibility Theory, as explained by Asemah, et al.(2017) was hypothesized by Hovland, Janis & Kelley in 1951. According to the theory, a communicator's positive characteristics can influence to what extent a message is successfully received by a recipient. According to the hypothesis, an endorser's expertise, reliability, and appearance are crucial to the message's impact. In other words, when the source presents itself as credible, individuals are more likely to be persuaded.

According to the Source Credibility Theory, two components establish the concept of source credibility, namely trustworthiness and expertise. While expertise is defined as the extent to which a communicator is perceived as a source of valid knowledge, trustworthiness is the degree of confidence in the communicator's intent to communicate the assertion he considers most valid and aligns with the needs of the context. A source or person who is not credible will not be believed by the audience (Asemah, 2011). Advertising communications often seek to persuade people to accept the promoted goods and services.

According to Hunter (2010), this source credibility argues to increase customer confidence, boost consumer response to the brand, and reduce unfavourable predisposition. Additionally, Anaeto, Onabajo, and Osifeso (2008) demonstrate that your audience is more likely to respond positively when you choose a reliable source to support your idea or product. Therefore, advertisers must use trustworthy celebrities; otherwise, their messages will backfire on consumers. This is so because one of the most important elements affecting a brand's image is source trustworthiness.

The study of Egharevba et al. (2019) demonstrated that celebrity endorsement is a major factor in influencing young people to gamble on sports. The majority of participants concurred that using celebrities is more successful and helps organizations to attract more clients. When betting companies utilize celebrities to advertise their services, the public assumes that since the celebrities would use the service themselves, it would be acceptable for them to do so likewise. As a result, the employment of celebrities encourages audience members to use the marketed service.

According to Thomas et al. (2015), humour, celebrity endorsements, memes, and animations were often present in gambling advertisements. Of the 100 advertisements that were part of the research, 31 had a celebrity appearance. Pitt et al. (2018) claim that the appearance of celebrities in gambling advertisements is specifically dangerous for children. Famous personalities would influence kids to perceive an advertisement as significant, enjoyable, and impactful. Kids tend to associate the positive emotions linked with the celebrity with the product being advertised. Since Pitt et al. (2016) discovered that children who are exposed to these types of promotions could influence the children's intentions to gamble as adults, they claim it is important to protect children from these advertisements.

As indicated by Rutter and Petty (2006), the presence of celebrities in advertisements that warn of risk could go in two directions. According to them, when individuals encounter an advertisement featuring their favourite celebrity cautioning against risky behaviour, they may worry about potential bias and consciously evaluate the message more sceptically and therefore adjust their overall evaluation to a more negative perspective. Consequently, even if the celebrity presents compelling arguments about the dangers of smoking, individuals might resist attitude change due to their efforts to counteract perceived bias. However, in the peripheral route of the ELM, it is also possible that the celebrity positively influences the perception of the warning. This effect, nevertheless, is most likely short-term, since this is one of the characteristics of the peripheral route. In addition, they indicate that the celebrity should be perceived as a single cue of the advertisement, and a warning message is necessary to reach the desired effect.

Therefore, these three hypotheses have been created:

H4: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement congruent with the brand results in a higher brand attitude than an incongruent endorsement.

H5: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement congruent with the brand results in a higher willingness to play than an incongruent endorsement.

H6: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement congruent with the brand results in less responsible gambling than an incongruent endorsement.

2.7 Warning messages in gambling

Gambling advertisements as a whole could be ambiguous for problem gamblers since they are more vulnerable to persuasion (Hanns et al., 2015). In other sectors where addiction is an element of the product or service, warning messages are often presented, either on the product or before/after the advertisement. For example, warning messages are presented on the packages of cigarettes in The Netherlands. Hammond (2021) suggests that thorough warnings are successful in preventing youth from starting to smoke. In addition, health warnings with strong emotional cues in the form of pictures work even better.

Critchlow et al. (2020) studied the current field of paid-for-gambling advertising in the United Kingdom. The results of this study presented that at least one in ten advertisements lacked harm reduction statements or age restriction warnings in their advertisements. In addition, when this content was present, these messages had limited visibility in comparison with the advertised content, often appearing in a small font or outside of the frame containing the main advertisement.

Currently, the availability of research on the effect of warning messages in gambling advertisements is limited. However, some studies have been conducted on the implementation of online gambling environments. The study of Monaghan (2009) on a theoretical base to encourage selfawareness of the user suggests using pop-up messaging to promote self-awareness to encourage responsible gambling and decrease the prevalence of problem gambling. Additionally, Gainsbury et al. (2015) presented that the participants remembered messages that prompted self-evaluation. Here, the most effective messages are those that specifically address money spent.

The study of Jardin & Wulfert (2009) examined the use of messaging on college students in a gambling setting. Here, it appears that educational messages regarding the dangers of gambling and cognitive distortions related to it, such as, "Only spend what you can afford to lose", boost gamblers' capacity to stop gambling. These informative messages have also been mentioned by Ginley et al. (2016), who mention that these informative warning messages should be brief and easy to read.

In the study of Harris et al. (2016), the effects of self-appraising messages, and communication focused on the practice of evaluating one's traits, accomplishments, or needs, on electronic gambling behaviour is measured. The study presented showed that self-appraising messages significantly reduced the betting speed in the setting where the gambler is already losing money, suggesting that this makes the participant think of their actions. These types of messages have also been mentioned in the study of Gainsbury et al. (2015). Specifically, the messages containing references to the player's life, problems and needs had a significant effect on the gambling behaviour.

Additionally, Monaghan and Blaszczynski (2009) indicate that these self-appraisal messages are the most recalled by gamblers. The study of Armstrong et al. (2018) supports this hypothesis,

claiming that messages need to be customized in line with the characteristics of the customers to be effective.

The study of Caillon et al. (2021) researched both informative and self-appraising messages. The study presented a significant effect of self-appraisal messages on gambling, with a greater effect on sports- and horse betting. This resulted in a decrease in the time that is spent gambling compared to exposure to informative or blank messaging. The outcomes are similar to John et al. (2017), who presented that messages on the reduction of harm can encourage subtle adjustments in gambling behaviour.

As mentioned priorly, the research of Critchlow et al. (2020) focused on the current appearances of harm reduction messages. At this time, these messages did not discuss the possible negative consequences of gambling. The majority of the time, self-regulatory advice such as "When the fun ends, stop," "Enjoy gaming responsibly," and "Play it carefully" are utilized. These positive words in the sentences present a contrary effect, acting as a promotional function rather than a warning. More specifically, Newall et al. (2019) discovered that the sentence "When the fun ends, stop" possibly increased gambling behaviour.

Lole et al. (2019) examined the effectiveness of these gambling messages in advertisements. Interestingly, compared to other gambling information, responsible gambling messages received far fewer fixations on or near them, which indicates that they are unlikely to be useful in preventing gambling damage in their current form. Here, it is also suggested that a high contrast/block colour background improves the frequency of fixations on messages.

De Pelsmacker et al. (2010) found that warning messages were more effective when they were presented by a credible source and when they contained specific information about the risks associated with the advertised product. In contrast, warning messages that were vague or presented in a non-threatening tone were less effective.

Another study by Chang et al. (2012) found that warning messages were more effective when they were presented in a visually salient manner, such as in a bold font or with a contrasting background colour. However, the authors noted that the effectiveness of warning messages varied depending on the product being advertised and the audience being targeted.

Currently, various research has been conducted to discover if digital addiction, in general, could be tackled. According to McAlaney (2019), digital addiction is the outcome of excessive use of the internet, digital devices and services. Digital addiction is becoming a severe problem that has several negative effects (Ali et al., 2015), including procrastination, distraction, and poor time management. These effects include diminished interaction with their real-world communities and worse grades on exams. In addition, exposure to online content lowers their general self-esteem and confidence. However, contrary to offline addictive sectors, such as smoking and drinking, there appears to be little self-reflection of the organizations to position themselves as the primary actor in the emerging field of digital addiction. This is rather unconventional since these software providers have the unique ability to engage with users in real-time and in a personalized way through both interactive prevention and intervention messages.

The study by McGivern et al. (2019) measured the effect of a pop-up warning message about losses in online roulette games. Here, it is presented that warning messages that are unique to expenditures can reduce potentially risky gambling behaviour. In addition, it is presented that these 'Pop-up' warning messages on the screen of the user have the potential to be a responsible gambling tool.

Blaszczynski et al. (2011) attempted to create principles and requirements for a responsible gaming program. Here, one of the sections of requirements is informing players. In this section, it is explained that players should be informed about the risks of excessive gambling and how to avoid them, as well as about services for seeking assistance, the actual mechanics of the games, and frequent misunderstandings that promote incorrect ideas about the likelihood of winning. These tools for responsible gambling can keep casual gamblers from developing gambling problems. As a result, establishing systems that are protective of the bulk of the gaming population is now a top goal for digital gambling providers. However, the efforts to alarm the possible users of the side effects in the advertisements of gambling websites have been extremely minimal.

As presented by Gainsbury et al. (2018), language, intonation and message content are crucial components of consumer communication. The simplicity, degree of directness, and intelligibility of the words used to convey the proper amount of risk, repercussions and measures to prevent harm are

referred to as the message's content. Depending on a person's culture, emotional state, the severity of gambling issues, and feeling of self-worth, the language used in warning messages may have different effects on them.

Responsible gambling messages frequently provide information on the chance of winning and the decision-making process in gambling. These warnings remind consumers of the risks associated with excessive or incorrect use as already presented in warning messages on alcohol and tobacco products. The foundation for the use of instructive or instructional messaging in the context of gambling is the assumption that irrational thoughts and beliefs are the cause of problem gambling (Monaghan & Blaszczynski, 2010). In their research, it is presented that if gamblers were informed about the games and their odds of winning, they possibly make more thought-out decisions.

Gamblers may be aware of their little chances of success due to cognitive biases, yet they may still believe they have a chance to win (Williams & Connolly, 2006). Here, they presented that gamblers continue to believe that their chances of winning outweigh the reality of the situation, even when informational messages such as warnings are presented and remembered by the participant. Although these incorrect beliefs can be corrected by educational communications, it is unknown if such messages have any impact on gambling behaviour.

Gainsbury et al. (2008) measured the effectiveness of various types of warning messages. Here, it is apparent that guidance on how to gamble "more responsibly," which could be used to give tips on how to lose less money, was appealing to young adults. On the other hand, older participants preferred softer messages that emphasized the enjoyable aspect of gaming. More interestingly, older individuals found limit-setting components appealing, wherein the other groups did not.

In addition, Gainsbury et al. (2008) also discovered that messages that encourage favourable attitudes toward the targeted conduct are more likely to be persuasive. Increased motivation could be achieved by lowering the cost of compliance, improving perceived competence, using positive language in messages, and appealing to a person's sense of worth.

Based on these prior studies, three different hypotheses have been created to examine the effect of the addition of a warning message in a gambling advertisement.

H7: The addition of a warning message in a gambling advertisement results in a higher brand attitude compared to the absence of a warning message.

H8: The addition of a warning message in a gambling advertisement results in a lower willingness to play compared to the absence of a warning message.

H9: The addition of a warning message in a gambling advertisement results in more responsible gambling compared to the absence of a warning message.

2.8 Interaction effect between celebrities and warning messages

The interaction between messaging and celebrity endorsement on responsible behaviour is a field that has not much research yet. In the article of Phua et al. (2018), it is discovered that consumer interaction with celebrity-endorsed advertising on Instagram was influenced by risk-oriented image congruence between a celebrity endorser and the risk messaging that was displayed in the advertisement. The study of Russel et al. (2016) discovered that positive facial expressions in advertisements reduce the objective comprehension of the warning. In addition, they discovered that the textual warning statements were more recalled by the participants when a positive face is presented in comparison to vocal- or video messages.

Also, as mentioned previously, the study of De Pelsmacker et al. (2010) discovered that warning messages positively influenced gambling awareness and responsibility when it was presented by a credible source. Interestingly, this could mean that a celebrity could also strengthen the effect of the warning message on the responsible gambling awareness of the consumer. This is also apparent in the research of Shead et al. (2011), who stated that using a famous figure linked with gambling, should boost issue-relevant processing among youngsters who are heavily involved in gambling and additionally give the message more credibility.

Based on this, these three hypotheses have been constructed:

H10: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement in combination with a warning message results in a lower brand attitude.

H11: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement in combination with a warning message results in a lower willingness to play.

H12: The addition of celebrity endorsement in a gambling advertisement in combination with a warning message results in higher responsible gambling.

2.9 Conceptual model



Figure 1: Conceptual model of the research

3 Preliminary Experiment

To be able to answer the research question and provide answers to the hypotheses, the effect of the presence and congruence of the celebrity, and the addition of a warning message will be investigated with a questionnaire. This quantitative method has been chosen because of multiple reasons. These surveys offer a practical way to reach an extensive sample (Stockemer, 2019), which helps to gather information. Additionally, they provide the freedom to include a variety of questions, like open-ended questions to gather qualitative insights, closed-ended questions and Likert scale questions to measure opinions (Bougie & Sekaran, 2020). Finally, these surveys decrease the amount of time needed for data gathering with human administration and data entering. Additionally, automated data processing is made possible by survey software, fastening the study process. To investigate the influence of the presence and relevance of celebrities and the addition of a warning message on the brand attitude and willingness to play, stimulus materials, in this case, the created advertisements, the warning messages and the celebrities need to be designed. To discover the participants' general preferences for the advertisements that were shown and to get input on the initial design, small-scale preliminary research was carried out. The visual cues used in the larger research were created with the use of the findings.

3.1 Participants

Participants were chosen for this preliminary research based on their contacts. The questionnaire was filled out by a total of 18 participants, of which 9 were male, 8 were female and 1 identified as a third gender. Additionally, 15 of the participants were Dutch. The other 3 participants shared a different nationality. Additionally, they ranged in age from 18 to 26 years old. Each participant received assurances regarding the safety and confidentiality of their information, as well as the fact that filling out the questionnaire was optional, and they could leave the research at any moment.

3.2 Procedure

This questionnaire has been created with the online tool "Qualtrics". Firstly, the purpose of the research as well as the manipulations that would be tested in the questionnaire were clarified to the participants. Furthermore, participants were informed that a visual prompt will be created based on their preferences. Additionally, a warning was presented to the participants that the content of the preliminary test included content that could be perceived as harmful for individuals vulnerable to addictive advertisements. After their given consent, participants were presented with three variations

of the sports betting advertisements. The first design consisted of a gambling advertisement without a celebrity, the second design with a general celebrity, George Clooney, and the third design with a well-known football player, Virgil van Dijk. The participants were asked to fill in their preferences based on realism, fluency, personal preference and celebrity realism. These questions are measured on a Likert scale of 5, ranging from "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly agree". In addition, three different variations of warning messages, namely "Caution: Bettings comes with risks", "Caution: Betting money costs money" and "Bet with caution, protect your wallet" were presented, which the participants had to rank on realism, personal preference and effectiveness.

3.3 Results

The responses of the participants were exported and analysed using descriptive statistics with the use of the data-analysis tool SPSS. In Table 1, an overview of the results can be found. The full overview of the results is presented in Appendix A.

Construct	Design 1	Design 2	Design 3
Brand believability	M = 4.09, SD = .77	M = 3.85, SD = .97	M = 4.42, SD = .68
Advertisement fluency	M = 4.32, SD = .94	M = 4.00, SD = .96	M = 4.53, SD = .64
Advertisement realism	M = 4.47, SD = .63	M = 4.11, SD = .95	M = 4.48, SD = .74
Celebrity realism		M = 4.00, SD = 1.02	M = 4.57, SD = .56

Table 1: Results of the preliminary experiment.

Participants indicated that the first design, the advertisement without the celebrity, was perceived as believable (M = 4.09, SD = 0.77) and overall liked the advertisement (M = 4.33, SD = 0.75). Additionally, the advertisement is perceived as fluent (M = 4.32, SD = 0.94) and realistic (M = 4.47, SD = 0.65).

Participants indicated that the second design, the advertisement with the general celebrity, was perceived as marginally believable (M = 3.85, SD = 0.97) and overall liked the advertisement (M = 3.78, SD = 0.92). Additionally, the advertisement is also perceived as fluent (M = 4.00, SD = 0.96) and realistic (M = 4.11, SD = 0.99). The celebrity is perceived as fitting for the advertisement (M = 3.72, SD = 1.01). Additionally, the participants believed that the celebrity would participate in this advertisement (M = 3.56, SD = 1.04). Finally, the participants indicated that they recognized the celebrity (M = 4.61, SD = 0.59).

Participants indicated that the second design, the advertisement with the celebrity related to the advertisement, was perceived as believable (M = 4.42, SD = 0.68) and overall liked the advertisement (M = 4.61, SD = 0.59). Additionally, the advertisement is also perceived as fluent (M = 4.53, SD = 0.64) and realistic (M = 4.48, SD = 0.74). The celebrity is perceived as majorly fitting for the advertisement (M = 4.94, SD = 0.23). Additionally, the participants believed that the celebrity would participate in this advertisement (M = 4.39, SD = 0.59). Finally, the participants indicated that they recognized the celebrity (M = 4.61, SD = 0.76).

For the warning messages, participants indicated that design 1 (M = 1.72, SD = 0.80) was perceived as the most realistic, followed by design 3 (M = 2.06, SD = 0.70) and design 2 (M = 2.22, SD = 0.85). The first design (M = 1.83, SD = 0.76) is also indicated as the preferred version by the participants, whereas the second (M = 2.06, SD = 0.85) and third design (M = 2.11, SD = 0.81) were less preferred. Interestingly, design 2 was marginally chosen as most effective by the participants (M =1.83, SD = 0.0.83), closely followed by design 1 (M = 1.94, SD = 0.85) and design 3 (M = 2.22, SD =0.71).

Based on the results of the preliminary experiment, the designs created for this test have been accepted as the designs for the main experiment. Since all three designs have been perceived as realistic, believable and congruent, these drafts would fit the main research. In addition, the chosen celebrities, George Clooney and Virgil van Dijk, are also proven to be realistic and believable for the advertisements. Therefore, these celebrities will be a successful fit for the main experiment. The designs can be found in Appendix A.

Additionally, it is decided that the first design of the warning message, with the text "Caution: Betting comes with risks", will be present under three of the conditions, since this design scored the highest on two of the three constructs. In addition, in the construct in which it scored second, the margin between the design considered most effective is marginal, with just a difference of 0.11.

4 Main experiment

In Table 2, the operationalisation table of constructs is presented. This table provides a concise

overview of how abstract concepts or constructs are translated into observable and measurable variables, facilitating clarity and consistency in data collection and analysis. For this research, three different dependent variables, namely "Brand Attitude", "Purchase Intention" and "Responsible Gambling" have been created. To be able to measure these constructs, various questions have been created based on prior research. These constructs and questions, alongside the reliability measured with the use of Cronbach's Alfa, are presented in Table 2.

Construct	Operationalization	Source	Questions
Brand Attitude	The overall attitude	Spears and	I think this brand is appealing
(a = .92)	towards the gambling	Singh (2004)I think this brand is good
	brand being advertised	and Chang	I think this brand is pleasant
		(2017)	I would favor this brand over other's
			I think this brand is likeable
			I feel positive towards this brand
Purchase	The likelihood of	Spears and	I have a high purchase intent for this service.
Intention (a =	engaging in gambling	Singh (2004)I would probably use this service if I was in need.
.86)	activities promoted by	and Gao et	My purchases with this brand would make me content.
	the advertisement	al. (2018)	If I were going to buy from this brand, the probability of buying this service is high.
			The likelihood that I would purchase from this brand is low
			Based on the advertisement, I would consider buying from GoalGoal.
Responsible	The awareness of	Wood et al.	I should be aware of how much money I spend when I gamble.
gambling (a =	responsible gambling	(2017)	I should be able to walk away from gambling at any time.
.85)	the participant has.		I should only gamble when I have enough money to cover all my bills first.
			It's my responsibility to spend only money that I can afford to lose.
			Gambling is not a good way to make money.
			My chances of winning get better after I have lost.
			If I gamble more often, it will help me to win more than I lose.
			I am aware of the risks of gambling.
			I feel in control of my gambling behavior.
			I would be honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of money I spent
			gambling.
			I would be honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of time I spent gambling.
			I would only gamble with money that I could afford to lose.
			I would only spend time gambling that I could afford to lose.
			I would consider the amount of money I was willing to lose before I gambled.
			I would consider the amount of time I was willing to spend before I gambled.

Table 2: Operationalization of constructs

To be able to answer the research question and provide answers to the hypotheses, the effect of the presence and congruence of the celebrity, and the addition of a warning message will be investigated with a 3x2 between-subjects experimental design, where an absent vs an incongruent vs a congruent celebrity and a presence vs an absence of a warning will be measured. In Table 3, the different designs are presented.

Variant	Celebrity	Warning Message
Design 1	Absent	Absent
Design 2	Present (Incongruent)	Absent
Design 3	Present (Congruent)	Absent
Design 4	Absent	Present
Design 5	Present (Incongruent)	Present
Design 6	Present (Congruent)	Present

Table 3: Representations of the experimental conditions

4.2 Participants

Participants were approached for this questionnaire by a personal approach, snowball sampling and convenience sampling. The questionnaire was filled out by a total of 205 participants. Of all these participants, 13 did not finish the questionnaire. Out of the total 192 participants, 97 were male, 92 were female and 3 identified as a third gender. Additionally, 141 of the participants were Dutch. The other 51 participants shared a different nationality. Additionally, they ranged in age from 18 to 73 years old with an average age of 28. In total, 101 participants indicated that they finished their education at a university level, whereas 58 participants indicated they finished their education at an MBO/HBO level. The distribution of the six different designs showed a Chi-Square value of 2.19. Each participant received assurances regarding the safety and confidentiality of their information, as well as the fact that filling out the questionnaire was optional, and they could leave the research at any moment. The complete overview of demographics is presented in Table 4.

Participar	ıts	Age	;		Gender Highest finished level of education				Nationality						
-		-		Male	Female	Third	Primary	Highschool	MBO/HBO	Bachelor	Master	Α	В	Ċ	D
Condition	N	M	SD	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N
Celebrity	192														
Absent	64	27	8	36	27	1	0	9	18	16	21	46	11	4	3
Incongruent	63	30	11	26	35	2	1	8	16	25	13	44	7	3	9
Congruent	65	29	11	35	30	0	0	15	24	16	10	51	7	2	5
Warning Message	192														
Absent	86	28	10	43	42	1	1	18	25	27	15	63	10	5	8
Present	106	29	10	54	50	2	0	14	33	29	30	78	15	4	9
Total	192			97	192	3	1	32	58	56	45	141	25	9	17

Table 4: Representation of the demographics of the participants. Third = A third gender or nonbinary, MBO = secondary vocational education, HBO = higher professional education, A = Dutch, B= German, C = Other countries within the EU, D = Other countries outside of the EU.

4.3 Procedure

An online survey was conducted to measure the impact of different experimental conditions on participants, who were randomly assigned to one of the conditions. The survey was created using the online tool "Qualtrics". Data were collected between June 2 and June 10, and the survey was distributed using an anonymous link provided by Qualtrics. As gambling websites are intended for adults only, the survey was made available to individuals above the age of 18. This was done by asking the participants to fill in if they were above the age of 18.

Participants were recruited for the survey using social media platforms such as Facebook, LinkedIn, Instagram, Whatsapp and Discord. A public post was created on the timelines of these platforms, asking followers to fill out the questionnaire. In addition, participants were approached individually via Whatsapp and were requested to fill out the survey. To create a snowball sample, all participants were encouraged to share the survey with family and friends.

The survey started with an introduction to the experiment and an explanation of the data storage and handling procedures. Participants were informed that participation was voluntary and that they could quit the study at any time. A warning message was also displayed, informing respondents that the content may trigger individuals who are vulnerable to addictive behaviours. Participants were given the option to consent or refuse to participate. After consenting, participants were randomly assigned one of the six experimental conditions, and a brief textual introduction to the company "GoalGoal" was provided. Participants were then presented with several statements related to "Brand Attitude," "Purchase Intention", and "Responsible Gambling". Based on the design that is presented to the participant, additional constructs "Celebrity Endorsement" and "Warning Message" are also presented. Additionally, as a control question, participants who were assigned to a design with a warning message are asked to choose the warning message that is shown. All statements that are part of the constructs have been based on prior research on these topics. The participants were asked to rate their level of agreement on a 5-step Likert scale, ranging from "Strongly disagree" to "Strongly agree". Finally, the participants were asked to fill in their demographics and their relationship with gambling.

4.4 Stimuli material

This study tests the effect of the influence of the presence and relevance of celebrities and the addition of a warning message in a gambling advertisement on brand attitude and purchase intention. To be able to measure this, six different gambling advertisements were created based on the results of the preliminary experiment. The chosen product of analysis in the following experiment is a sports gambling advertisement. The main argument for this decision is that sports gambling advertisements are easily recognizable due to their frequent appearance. In addition, these sports-betting advertisements are often paired with recognizable corporate identities. These companies, such as Toto, Bet365 and UniBet primarily use green, yellow and white in their advertisements. Additionally, a distinctive white font is often apparent in these advertisements. Therefore, these characteristics are also present in the advertisements.

The mockups for these advertisements have first been created with Canva. Afterwards, the advertisements were designed with the use of Figma and Photoshop. The outcome of the six different designs created with the feedback given in the preliminary experiment is presented in Figure 2.



Design 1





Design 2

GOALGOAL





....

(18+)

Design 4 Design 5 Figure 2: Visual representations of the designs.

Design 6

5 Results

To be able to discover the effect of the independent variables 'Celebrity' and 'Warning Message' on the dependent variables 'Brand Attitude', 'Purchase Intention' and 'Responsible Gambling', a multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted with the use of statistical program SPSS. In this analysis, the celebrity presence presented an insignificant effect (F(3,185) = .00), P = 1.00, Wilks $\Lambda = 1.00$, Partial $\eta 2 = .00$)). The congruence of these celebrities presented an insignificant effect (F(3,185) = .00), P = 1.00, Wilks $\Lambda = 1.00$, Partial $\eta 2 = .00$)). Additionally, the warning message also presented an insignificant effect (F(3,185) = .00), P = 1.00, Wilks $\Lambda = 1.00$, Partial $\eta 2 =$.00).) and the interaction effect between the variables (F(3,185) = .00), P = 1.00, Wilks $\Lambda = 1.00$, Partial $\eta 2 = .00$)) presented an insignificant effect.

5.1 Impact of celebrities on Brand Attitude, Purchase Intention and Responsible Gambling

The addition of a celebrity and the congruence with the advertisement showed an insignificant effect on the brand attitude (F(1,178) = 2.45, p = .088), this value is however close to a significant value. Interestingly, specifically, the difference between no celebrity and a congruent celebrity seems to be marginally significant (p = .08). Here, the average mean difference between both variables is 0.35. Similarly, including a celebrity in the advertisement and ensuring congruence also does not have a significant impact on people's intention to purchase (F(1,178) = .76, p = .47). In addition, the addition of a celebrity and the congruence with the advertisement also showed an insignificant effect on responsible gambling (F(1,178) = .45, p = .64). In Appendix D, an overview of all results of celebrity congruence can be found. It can be concluded that hypothesis 4 is marginally supported, whereas hypotheses 1,2,3,5 and 6 are not supported.

5.2 Impact of warning messages on Brand Attitude, Purchase Intention and Responsible Gambling

Results showed that the addition of a warning message in a gambling advertisement has an insignificant effect on the brand attitude (F(3,185) = 1.66, p = .15). Additionally, the results revealed that adding a warning message to a gambling advertisement does not have a noticeable effect on people's willingness to buy (F(3,185) = .60, p = .44). Finally, results showed that the addition of a

warning message in a gambling advertisement has an insignificant effect on responsible gambling (F(3,185) = 2.19, p = .14). Finally, it is also measured if the participants were able to remember the warning message. In total, 86.5% of all participants were able to recall the warning message successfully. The design without the celebrity, design 4, scored lower than the other designs, whereas only 75% of the participants were able to remember the correct warning message. The complete results can be found in Appendix B. Based on these results, hypotheses 7, 8 and 9 are not supported.

5.3 Impact of the interaction between celebrities and warning message on Brand Attitude, Purchase Intention and Responsible Gambling

The interaction between the absence versus presence of a celebrity and the absence versus presence of

a warning message showed an insignificant effect on the brand attitude of the consumer (F(3,185) = 1.66, p = .15). In addition, this combination also presented an insignificant effect on the purchase intention (F(3,185) = .90 p = .48). Finally, the combination of celebrities and warning messages also presented an insignificant effect on responsible gambling (F(3,185) = .86, p = .51). In Table 5, the descriptive statistics of the various interactions have been presented. Additionally, the full results of the effect of congruence are presented in Appendix F. These results show that hypotheses 10,11 and 12 are not supported.

	Design					
Variable	Celeb = 0,	Celeb = 1,	Celeb = 2	Celeb = 0,	Celeb = 1,	Celeb = 2,
	WM = 0	WM = 0	WM = 0	WM = 1	WM = 1	WM = 1
Brand	<i>M</i> = 2.89	M = 3.00	M = 3.40	M = 2.78	M = 3.10	M = 3.00
Attitude	SD = .78	<i>SD</i> =.96	SD = .78	SD = 1.03	SD = .98	<i>SD</i> = .99
Purchase	M = 2.51	M = 2.73	M = 2.95	M = 2.59	M = 2.79	M = 2.64
Intention	<i>SD</i> =.75	<i>SD</i> = .91	SD = 1.00	SD = .79	SD = .77	<i>SD</i> = .85
Responsible	M = 4.14	M = 4.18	<i>M</i> = 4.33	<i>M</i> = 4.33	<i>M</i> = 4.35	M = 4.28
Gambling	SD = .68	<i>SD</i> =.57	SD = .57	SD = .51	<i>SD</i> = .43	SD = .54

Table 5: Descriptive statistics of the interactions, whereas 'Celeb' = Celebrity, 0 = Celebrity Absent, 1 = Celebrity Present (Incongruent) and 2 = Celebrity Present (Congruent). 'WM' = Warning Message, 0 = Warning Message Absent and 1 = Warning Message Present.

5.4 Additional Analyses

Since the majority of the results of the experiment were proven to have no significant effect, additional

analyses have been processed. Firstly, it became apparent that the difference in gambling activities

frequency by the participants did not significantly impact brand attitude (F(3,185) = .40, p = .96).

Additionally, it also did not present an effect on purchase intention (F(3,185) = .34, p = .95) nor the awareness of responsible gambling (F(3,185) = .53, p = .89).

Since previous literature also presented that education might be a factor for the vulnerability of being convinced by gambling advertisements, it is also decided to analyze this. Brand attitude was not significantly impacted by this (F(3,185) = .86, p = .64). In addition, neither purchase intention (F(3,185) = .94, p = .56) and responsible gambling (F(3,185) = .88, p = .63) presented a significant effect.

Although the data present that the results of an interaction effect are insignificant, it is still visible that there are some differences between the combinations of variables. In Figure 3, the interaction effect of the different composition of variables on the presented. Here, interestingly, the marginal mean of the presence of a celebrity is higher than an absent celebrity. Additionally, the congruent celebrity, especially in a situation without a warning message, seems to score rather high. , which would align with the marginally significant effect of celebrities presented earlier. However, it should still be noted that none of these values are significant.



Figure 3: Presentation of the marginal means per design on brand attitude

The survey also included several general questions to discover if the participant is involved in gambling activities. On the question if the participant ever has been in a situation with the urge to gamble, 124 participants (64.58%) indicated they have never been in this situation, whereas 65 participants (33.85%) recognized the situation.

Of the 192 participants, 123 (64.06%) indicated that they gamble less than once a year. From this sample group, only 13 participants (6.77%) gambled once a week or more frequently than that. Here, 21 participants (10.93%) gambled once a month, and 31 participants (16.15%) gambled once a year.

Here, similar results were presented on the question of how often the participant visited gambling websites. 15 participants (28.8%) indicated they visited gambling websites at least once a week, whereas 19 participants (36.48%) indicated they visit it once a month and 19 other participants (36.48%) only visit a gambling site once a year. The largest group with 136 participants (70.83%) indicated they visit these websites less than once a year.

Finally, the participants were asked to indicate how often they thought of gambling in the past week. Here, 156 participants (81.25%) indicated they never thought of gambling this week. Only 25 participants (13.02%) thought of gambling once, whereas 9 participants (4.69%) indicated that they thought of it two or three times. Only 2 participants (0.10%) indicated they thought of gambling most of the time.

6 Discussion

This study aimed to investigate the effects of a celebrity, their absence versus an incongruent celebrity versus a congruent celebrity, and a warning message, the absence of a warning message versus the presence of a warning message, in an advertisement of a gambling organisation on the brand attitude, the purchase intention and responsible gambling of the consumer. It was expected that the appearance of a celebrity would have a higher brand attitude, purchase intention and responsible gambling in comparison with the absence. In addition, it was expected that a congruent celebrity would have a more positive effect on these three variables than an incongruent celebrity. In line, it was also expected that the addition of a warning message would positively influence brand attitude, purchase intention and responsible gambling. Finally, it was expected that an interaction between a celebrity and a warning message would also result in a higher brand attitude, purchase intention and responsible gambling in comparison to the single variables.

6.1 Discussion of the results

Firstly, the results of the experiment showed that the congruence of a celebrity in a gambling advertisement presented an insignificant effect on the brand attitude. However, the difference between the absence of a celebrity and the presence of a congruent celebrity presented a marginally significant value on brand attitude. However, the effect of the presence and congruence of celebrities are not apparent in the purchase intention and responsible gambling. The results of the experiment showed that the addition of a warning message does not affect the brand attitude. Additionally, no effect of the warning message was apparent on the purchase intention of customers. Finally, the responsible gambling of the participant is also not significantly influenced by the addition of a warning message.

Finally, there seems to be no effect of an interaction between a warning message and the presence of a celebrity. However, as presented in the figure in Figure 2 and Appendix G, results show that more research could result in significant results.

Although a majority of these results do not show the expected effect as presented in previous literature, some conclusions on the relationship can still be drawn. The marginal effect of the congruence of a celebrity is in line with the source credibility theory (Asemah, et al., 2017), which explained that the effectiveness of a message is influenced by how credible its source is perceived. For this study, it would mean that the presence of a celebrity in line with the advertisement, in this case, a well-known football player, would result in a higher brand attitude. Choosing a football player that fits the criteria of the PATER model of Gutpka and Kishor (2017), by being popular, attractive, trustworthy, an expert and relevant to the sector, in addition to the theory of Albert et al. (2017) that celebrity-brand congruence should be apparent, it would mean that the football gambling advertisement would be more successful than the absence of a celebrity. Therefore, it seems that the Dutch government has made the right decision to ban the appearance of celebrities in these types of advertisements.

Finally, it is presented that the warning messages included in the gambling advertisements did not influence the responsible gambling awareness of the participant. In the extensive research of Gainsbury et al. (2018) on the effect of warning messages, it is apparent that the language, intonation and content of the message are crucial for successful communication. In this case, it is possible that the informative approach of the messages included in this research is not as effective as a more emotional approach. For instance, in an environment that is also focused on preventing addictive behaviour, smoking, it is decided to focus on the emotions of the consumer by showing pictures of the side effects it causes. Additionally, the message might also not be as visible as preferred. Therefore, it might be of consideration to implement a pop-up warning message as proposed by McGivern et al. (2019), requiring an active manoeuvre from the consumer.

6.2 Theoretical and practical implications

This research contributes to the existing knowledge by exploring the effects of the presence and congruence of celebrities in gambling advertisements and the addition of warning messages. It provides new insights into the mechanisms underlying brand attitude, willingness to play, and responsible gambling, furthering the understanding of the persuasive power of advertising in the context of gambling. The findings of this research, although not significant, can inform and enrich conceptual frameworks related to advertising, celebrity endorsements, and responsible gambling. Specifically, the differences in the marginal means of brand attitude may inspire further research on this topic.

The findings can assist with the development and revision of advertising guidelines and regulations in the gambling industry. The study's insights into the impact of celebrity endorsements and warning messages could guide policymakers and regulatory bodies in designing more effective and responsible advertising standards that protect vulnerable individuals and promote responsible gambling practices.

The research underscores the importance of responsible gambling initiatives. Therefore, the findings can inform the design and implementation of responsible gambling programs, motivating organizations to develop more targeted interventions and messages that promote responsible gambling practices and minimize the potential harms associated with excessive gambling.

Finally, this study highlights the need for consumer education on the persuasive tactics employed in gambling advertisements. The findings can be used to develop educational campaigns aimed at increasing individuals' awareness of the influence of celebrities, the potential risks associated with gambling, and the importance of responsible gambling behaviours. Such initiatives could empower individuals to make informed decisions and develop healthier attitudes towards gambling.

6.3 Limitations

Firstly, the study relied on a relatively small sample size of 192 participants, which may limit the generalizability of the findings to a larger population. The sample may not be representative of the broader demographic characteristics of gamblers, thus potentially affecting the external validity of the research. Additionally, the study consisted of a significant amount of highly educated participants. According to the study of Moreira et al. (2023), individuals who have only finished lower levels of education are significantly more vulnerable to gambling participation and addiction. Since this current group is on average highly educated, it may be the case that they already have an aversion to gambling as a whole, which could influence the outcomes.

Secondly, the study did not account for potential confounding variables that may influence participants' brand attitude, purchase intention, and responsible gambling. Variables such as age, gender, socioeconomic status, and problem gambling tendencies were not controlled for, which may limit the ability to isolate the specific effects of the independent variables. Additionally, other relevant variables such as type of gambling activity, frequency of exposure and vulnerability to addiction were not considered.

Thirdly, the two chosen celebrities in this research, Virgil van Dijk and George Clooney, might not be representative of these types of advertisements. Although both celebrities passed the preliminary experiment, a previous bias on both celebrities might have influenced the perception of the participant. For instance, George Clooney is already associated with Nespresso, a coffee brand, and Virgil van Dijk is present in advertisements from Liga, a biscuits company. As presented by Prasad (2013), multiple endorsements by the same celebrity tend to confuse consumers, which consequently negatively influences the advertisement- and brand perception. Since both brands advertise heavily on national television, this reference to consumer could have impacted the data. Therefore, it is advised to carefully choose the endorsers for future research.

Finally, the study focused primarily on participants' attitudes and intentions rather than their actual gambling behaviour. While attitudes and intentions are important predictors, they may not fully reflect individuals' real-life actions, and the study could benefit from exploring the actual gambling behaviours resulting from the experimental conditions (Ajzen, 1991).

6.4 Future research

Although the results of this study did not present a significant effect, the data still presented interesting results that might be of value for future research. Specifically, the influence of celebrities on brand attitude is an interesting field to explore further. Therefore, it is advised to investigate the effects of different types of celebrities in gambling advertisements, such as athletes, actors, musicians, and social media influencers. Additionally, these types of celebrities should also be measured on different variants of gambling websites, such as online casinos or slot machines.

Secondly, only an online questionnaire is not sufficient to be able to measure an effect. Due to the seriousness of the problem and the risks gambling brings, it is advised to combine online surveys with other data collection methods, such as qualitative interviews or behavioural observations, to triangulate the findings and gain a more comprehensive understanding of participants' experiences, attitudes, and behaviours related to gambling advertisements. This would enrich the depth of the research and provide a more holistic view of the topic. Thirdly, it is advised to explore potential mediating and moderating variables that may explain or influence the relationship between the independent and dependent variables. For example, investigate the role of gambling involvement, self-regulation, celebrity attractiveness, or vulnerability to addictive content as mediators or moderators in the observed effects.

Finally, gambling addiction is not a sudden phenomenon but builds up gradually over time. Therefore, it is advised to conduct follow-up studies to examine the long-term effects of exposure to gambling advertisements. These longitudinal designs would enable the assessment of how these variables may impact individuals' attitudes and behaviours over an extended period, providing insights into the sustainability of the observed effects.

7 Conclusion

This study aimed to investigate the effects of a warning message and the presence and congruence of a celebrity on the brand attitude, purchase intention and responsible gambling of consumers. With the use of a 3x2 experimental research design, this study was conducted to answer the main research question: *"To what extent do the presence and congruence of celebrities in gambling advertisements and the addition of warning messages influence the brand attitude, the purchase intention and responsible gambling?"*.

Although the results of this experiment presented insignificant effects, the study still contributes to the current field of research on the influence of celebrities and warning messages in gambling advertisements. The marginal means presented in this study show that with further research, an effect could be presented. However, since this is not the case in this research, the answer to the research question is that for now, celebrities and warning messages do not have a direct impact on brand attitude, purchase intention and responsible gambling.

Nevertheless, to be able to limit the effectiveness of gambling advertisements on the persuasion to participate in these activities, it is advised to policymakers to further dive into this topic, since gambling is a danger concealed in an attractive package.

References

Aaker, D.A. (1991) Managing Brand Equity. The Free Press, New York.

Beperken reclame. (n.d.). Kansspelautoriteit. <u>https://kansspelautoriteit.nl/voor-zakelijke-aanbieders/beperken-reclame/</u>

Abdi, T. A., Ruiter, R. A. C., & Adal, T. A. (2013). Personal, Social and Environmental Risk Factors of Problematic Gambling Among High School Adolescents in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *31*(1), 59–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-013-9410-9</u>

Ahn, J., Back, K. J., & Lee, C. K. (2019). A new dualistic approach to brand attitude: The role of passion among integrated resort customers. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 78, 261–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.09.008

Akbari, M. (2015). Different impacts of advertising appeals on advertising attitude for high and low-involvement products. *Global Business Review*, *16*(3), 478–493.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0972150915569936

Albert, N., Ambroise, L., & Valette-Florence, P. (2017). Consumer, brand, celebrity: Which congruency produces effective celebrity endorsements? *Journal of Business Research*, *81*, 96–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.08.002</u>

An, S., & Ha, S. (2022). When influencers promote unhealthy products and behaviours: the role of ad disclosures in YouTube eating shows. *International Journal of Advertising*, *42*(3), 542–561. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2022.2148989

Armstrong, T., Rockloff, M., Browne, M., & Li, E. (2018). An Exploration of How Simulated Gambling Games May Promote Gambling with Money. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *34*(4), 1165– 1184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-018-9742-6</u>

Arora, N., Prashar, S., Tata, S. V., & Parsad, C. (2021). Measuring personality congruency effects on consumer brand intentions in celebrity-endorsed brands. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *38*(3), 251–261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/jcm-02-2020-3634</u>

Awasthi, A. K., & Choraria, S. (2015). Effectiveness of Celebrity Endorsement

Advertisements: The Role of Customer Imitation Behaviour. Journal of Creative Communications,

10(2), 215–234. https://doi.org/10.1177/0973258615597412

Biswas, D., Biswas, A., & Das, N. (2006). The Differential Effects of Celebrity and Expert Endorsements on Consumer Risk Perceptions. The Role of Consumer Knowledge, Perceived Congruency, and Product Technology Orientation. *Journal of Advertising*, *35*(2), 17–31.

doi:10.1080/00913367.2006.10639231

Blaszczynski, A., Collins, P., Fong, D., Ladouceur, R., Nower, L., Shaffer, H. J. & Venisse, J.L. (2011). Responsible Gambling: General Principles and Minimal Requirements. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 27(4), 565–573. doi:10.1007/s10899-010-9214-0

Bouguettaya, A., Lynott, D., Carter, A., Zerhouni, O., Meyer, S., Ladegaard, I., Gardner, J., & O'Brien, K. (2020). The relationship between gambling advertising and gambling attitudes, intentions and behaviours: a critical and meta-analytic review. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, *31*, 89–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2020.02.010

Brick, D. J., & Fournier, S. (2017). How Consumers' Attitudes Toward Brands are Shaped. *The Routledge Companion to Consumer Behavior*, 227–242.

https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315526935-15

Brown, M., Pope, N. K., & Voges, K. E. (2003). Buying or browsing? *European Journal of Marketing*, *37*(11/12), 1666–1684. https://doi.org/10.1108/03090560310495401

Burmann, C., Jost-Benz, M., & Riley, N. (2009). Towards an identity-based brand equity model. *Journal of Business Research*, 62(3), 390–397.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2008.06.009

Caillon, J., Grall-Bronnec, M., Saillard, A., Leboucher, J., Péré, M., & Challet-Bouju, G.

(2021). Impact of Warning Pop-Up Messages on the Gambling Behavior, Craving, and Cognitions of

Online Gamblers: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Frontiers in Psychiatry, 12.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.711431

Chang, W. C. (2004). An Empirical Analysis of Gambling Addiction: Results from the Case of Taiwan. *Topics in Economic Analysis & amp; Policy*, 4(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.2202/1538-</u>0653.1269

Clemens, F., Hanewinkel, R., & Morgenstern, M. (2016). Exposure to Gambling Advertisements and Gambling Behavior in Young People. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *33*(1), 1–13.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-016-9606-x

Cortis, D. (2015). Expected values and variances in bookmaker payouts: A theoretical approach towards setting limits on odds. *The Journal of Prediction Markets*, *9*(1), 1–14.

https://doi.org/10.5750/jpm.v9i1.987

Critchlow, N., Moodie, C., Stead, M., Morgan, A., Newall, P., & Dobbie, F. (2020). Visibility of age restriction warnings, harm reduction messages and terms and conditions: a content analysis of paid-for gambling advertising in the United Kingdom. *Public Health*, *184*, 79–88.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.04.004

Das, G. (2015). Linkages between self-congruity, brand familiarity, perceived quality and purchase intention: A study of fashion retail brands. *Journal of Global Fashion Marketing*, *6*(3), 180–193. https://doi.org/10.1080/20932685.2015.1032316

Derevensky, J., Sklar, A., Gupta, R., & Messerlian, C. (2009). An Empirical Study Examining the Impact of Gambling Advertisements on Adolescent Gambling Attitudes and Behaviors. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 8(1), 21–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-009-9211-7</u>

Duncan, P., Davies, R., & Sweney, M. (2020, 1 juli). Children 'bombarded' with betting adverts during World Cup. *The Guardian*.

https://www.theguardian.com/media/2018/jul/15/children-bombarded-with-betting-advertsduring-world-cup

Erdogan, B. Z. (1999). Celebrity Endorsement: A Literature Review. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 15(4), 291–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1362/026725799784870379</u>

Felsher, J. R., Derevensky, J. L., & Gupta, R. (2004). Lottery Playing Amongst Youth: Implications for Prevention and Social Policy. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *20*(2), 127–153. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:jogs.0000022306.72513.7c

Gainsbury, S. M., King, D. L., Russell, A. M. T., Delfabbro, P., Derevensky, J., & Hing, N. (2016). Exposure to and engagement with gambling marketing in social media: Reported impacts on moderate-risk and problem gamblers. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, *30*(2), 270–276.

https://doi.org/10.1037/adb0000156

Gao, J., Zhang, C., Wang, K., & Ba, S. (2012). Understanding online purchase decision making: The effects of unconscious thought, information quality, and information quantity. *Decision Support Systems*, *53*(4), 772–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2012.05.011

Gardner, M. P. (1985). Does Attitude toward the Ad Affect Brand Attitude under a Brand Evaluation Set? *Journal of Marketing Research*, 22(2), 192–198.

https://doi.org/10.1177/002224378502200208

Gupta, R., Kishor, N., & Verma, D. (2017). Construction and validation of a five-dimensional celebrity endorsement scale: introducing the Pater model. *British journal of marketing studies*, *5*(4), 15-35.

Hammond, D. (2011). Health warning messages on tobacco products: a review. *Tobacco Control*, 20(5), 327–337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.2010.037630</u>

Harris, A., Parke, A., & Griffiths, M. D. (2016). The Case for Using Personally Relevant and Emotionally Stimulating Gambling Messages as a Gambling Harm-Minimisation Strategy. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *16*(2), 266–275.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-016-9698-7

Hing, N., Lamont, M. J., Vitartas, P., & Fink, E. (2015, 1 oktober). Sports bettors' responses to sports-embedded gambling promotions: Implications for compulsive consumption. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(10), 2057–2066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.03.003</u>

Kaikati, J. G. (1987). Celebrity Advertising. *International Journal of Advertising*, 6(2), 93– 105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.1987.11107007</u> Knoll, J., & Matthes, J. (2016). The effectiveness of celebrity endorsements: a meta-analysis. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 45(1), 55–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-016-</u> 0503-8

Kytö, E., Virtanen, M., & Mustonen, S. (2019). From intention to action: Predicting purchase behavior with consumers' product expectations and perceptions, and their individual properties. *Food Quality and Preference*, *75*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2019.02.002

La Ferle, C., & Choi, S. M. (2005). The Importance of Perceived Endorser Credibility in South Korean Advertising. *Journal of Current Issues & Compression Research in Advertising*, 27(2), 67–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10641734.2005.10505182</u>

Lee, H. S., Lemanski, J. L., & Jun, J. W. (2007). Role of Gambling Media Exposure in Influencing Trajectories Among College Students. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *24*(1), 25–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-007-9078-0</u>

León-Jariego, J. C., Parrado-González, A., & Ojea-Rodríguez, F. J. (2019). Behavioral Intention to Gamble Among Adolescents: Differences Between Gamblers and Non-gamblers— Prevention Recommendations. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *36*(2), 555–572.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-019-09904-6

Lindsay, S., Thomas, S., Lewis, S., Westberg, K., Moodie, R., & Jones, S. (2013). Eat, drink and gamble: marketing messages about 'risky' products in an Australian major sporting series. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-719</u>

Livingstone, C., & Rintoul, A. (2020). Moving on from responsible gambling: a new discourse is needed to prevent and minimise harm from gambling. *Public Health*, *184*, 107–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.03.018

Lole, L., Li, E., Russell, A. M., Greer, N., Thorne, H., & Hing, N. (2019). Are sports bettors looking at responsible gambling messages? An eye-tracking study on wagering advertisements. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 8(3), 499–507. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.8.2019.37 Lopez-Gonzalez, H., Estévez, A., & Griffiths, M. D. (2017, 22 april). Marketing and Advertising Online Sports Betting: A Problem Gambling Perspective. *Journal of Sport & Social Issues*, 41(3), 256–272. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0193723517705545</u>

Matz, S. C., Kosinski, M., Nave, G., & Stillwell, D. J. (2017). Psychological targeting as an effective approach to digital mass persuasion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *114*(48), 12714–12719. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1710966114

McCormack, A., Shorter, G. W., & Griffiths, M. D. (2013). An examination of participation in online gambling activities and the relationship with problem gambling. *Journal of behavioral addictions*, 2(1), 31–41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/jba.2.2013.1.5</u>

Molde, H., Holmøy, B., Merkesdal, A. G., Torsheim, T., Mentzoni, R. A., Hanns, D., Sagoe,

D., & Pallesen, S. (2019). Are Video Games a Gateway to Gambling? A Longitudinal Study Based on a Representative Norwegian Sample. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, *35*(2), 545–557.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-018-9781-z

Monaghan, S., & Blaszczynski, A. (2009). Impact of Mode of Display and Message Content of Responsible Gambling Signs for Electronic Gaming Machines on Regular Gamblers. *Journal of Gambling Studies*, 26(1), 67–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-009-9150-z</u>

Monaghan, S. M. (2009). Responsible gambling strategies for Internet gambling: The theoretical and empirical base of using pop-up messages to encourage self-awareness. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25(1), 202–207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2008.08.008</u>

Moreira, D., Azeredo, A. & Dias, P. Risk Factors for Gambling Disorder: A Systematic

Review. J Gambl Stud 39, 483-511 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10899-023-10195-1

Muggleton, N. K., Parpart, P., Newall, P. W. S., Leake, D. B., Gathergood, J., & Stewart, N.

(2021). The association between gambling and financial, social and health outcomes in big financial

data. Nature Human Behaviour, 5(3), 319–326. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-01045-w

Ndlela, T., & Chuchu, T. (2016). Celebrity Endorsement Advertising: Brand Awareness,

Brand Recall, Brand Loyalty as Antecedence of South African Young Consumers' Purchase

Behaviour. Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies, 8(2(J)), 79-90.

https://doi.org/10.22610/jebs.v8i2(j).1256

Newall, P. W. S., Moodie, C., Reith, G., Stead, M., Critchlow, N., Morgan, A., & Dobbie, F. (2019). Gambling Marketing from 2014 to 2018: a Literature Review. *Current Addiction Reports*, 6(2), 49–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40429-019-00239-1</u>

NOS. (2021a, September 10). Drie online gokreclames per blok wordt de limiet, als het aan deze gokbedrijven ligt. NOS.nl. <u>https://nos.nl/artikel/2397227-drie-online-gokreclames-per-blok-</u> wordt-de-limiet-als-het-aan-deze-gokbedrijven-ligt

NOS. (2021b, November 25). *Klachten over gokreclames; voorstel van SP en ChristenUnie tot beperking*. NOS.nl. <u>https://nos.nl/artikel/2406979-klachten-over-gokreclames-voorstel-van-</u> <u>sp-en-christenunie-tot-beperking</u>

Nyemcsok, C., Thomas, S. M., Bestman, A., Pitt, H., Daube, M., & Cassidy, R. (2018, 23 december). Young people's recall and perceptions of gambling advertising and intentions to gamble on sport. *Journal of behavioral addictions*, *7*(4), 1068–1078.

https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.7.2018.128

O'Loughlin, I., & Blaszczynski, A. (2017). Comparative Effects of Differing Media Presented Advertisements on Male Youth Gambling Attitudes and Intentions. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, *16*(2), 313–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-017-9753-z

Parke, A., Harris, A., Parke, J., Rigbye, J., & Blaszczynski, A. (2015). RESPONSIBLE

MARKETING AND ADVERTISING IN GAMBLING: A CRITICAL REVIEW. The Journal of

Gambling Business and Economics, 8(3), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.5750/jgbe.v8i3.972

Percy, L., & Rossiter, J. R. (1992). A model of brand awareness and brand attitude advertising

strategies. Psychology and Marketing, 9(4), 263–274. https://doi.org/10.1002/mar.4220090402

Petty, R. E., & Cacioppo, J. T. (1986). The Elaboration Likelihood Model of Persuasion.

Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, 123–205. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-

2601(08)60214-2

Pradhan, D., Duraipandian, I., & Sethi, D. (2014). Celebrity endorsement: How celebrity-

brand–user personality congruence affects brand attitude and purchase intention. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 22(5), 456–473. https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2014.914561

Prasad, C. (2013). Brand endorsement by celebrities impacts towards customer satisfaction. *African Journal of Business Management*, 7(35), 3630–3635. https://doi.org/10.5897/ajbm11.2571

Pressca Neging, Rosidah Musa, Jati Kasuma, & Maureen Neging. (2017). Millennial And Internet: A Positive Behavioral Effect Of Pathological Internet Use (PIU). *International Journal of Business and Society*, 18(3), 619–631. <u>https://doi.org/10.33736/ijbs.3156.2017</u>

Rhee, E. S., & Jung, W. S. (2018). Brand familiarity as a moderating factor in the ad and brand attitude relationship and advertising appeals. *Journal of Marketing Communications*, 25(6), 571–585. https://doi.org/10.1080/13527266.2018.1461124

Rucker, D. D., & Petty, R. E. (2006). Increasing the Effectiveness of Communications to Consumers: Recommendations Based on Elaboration Likelihood and Attitude Certainty Perspectives. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 25(1), 39–52. doi:10.1509/jppm.25.1.39

Russell, C. A., Swasy, J. L., Russell, C. A., & Engel, L. (2016). Eye-tracking evidence that happy faces impair verbal message comprehension: the case of health warnings in direct-to-consumer pharmaceutical television commercials. *International Journal of Advertising*, *36*(1), 82–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/02650487.2016.1196030

Seiler, R. & Kucza, G. (2017). Source Credibility Model, Source Attractiveness Model And Match-Up-Hypothesis–An Integrated Model. JOURNAL OF INTERNATIONAL SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS : ECONOMY & BUSINESS. 11. 1-15.

Shimp, T. A. (2008). Advertising Promotion and Other Aspects of Integrated Marketing Communications. Cengage Learning.

Shead, N. W., Derevensky, J. L., & Gupta, R. (2010). Risk and protective factors associated with youth problem gambling. *International journal of adolescent medicine and health*, 22(1), 39.

Shead, N. W., Walsh, K., Taylor, A. E., Derevensky, J. L., & Gupta, R. (2010). Youth Gambling Prevention: Can Public Service Announcements Featuring Celebrity Spokespersons be Effective? International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 9(2), 165–179.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-009-9260-y

Singh, J., Crisafulli, B., Quamina, L. T., & Xue, M. M. (2020). 'To trust or not to trust': The impact of social media influencers on the reputation of corporate brands in crisis. *Journal of Business Research*, *119*, 464–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.03.039

Spears, N., & Singh, S. (2004). Measuring attitude toward the brand and purchase intentions. Journal of Current Issues and Research in Advertising, 26(2), 53–66.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10641734.2004.10505164

Statista. (2023, 23 januari). *Share of sports fans in the U.S. 2023, by gender*. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/1018814/sports-fans-usa-</u> <u>gender/#:~:text=Share%20of%20sports%20fans%20in%20the%20U.S.%202023%2C%20by</u> <u>%20gender&text=During%20a%20January%202023%20survey,19%20percent%20among%2</u> <u>Ofemale%20respondents</u>.

Tan, Y., Geng, S., Katsumata, S., & Xiong, X. (2021). The effects of ad heuristic and systematic cues on consumer brand awareness and purchase intention: Investigating the bias effect of heuristic information processing. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, *63*, 102696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jretconser.2021.102696

Thaler, R. H., & Johnson, E. J. (1990). Gambling with the House Money and Trying to Break Even: The Effects of Prior Outcomes on Risky Choice. *Management Science*, *36*(6), 643–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.36.6.643</u>

Um, N. H., & Jang, A. (2020). Impact of celebrity endorsement type on consumers' brand and advertisement perception and purchase intention. *Social Behavior and Personality: an international journal*, 48(4), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.8913</u>

Weismueller, J., Harrigan, P., Wang, S., & Soutar, G. N. (2020). Influencer Endorsements: How advertising disclosure and source credibility affect consumer purchase intention on social media. *Australasian Marketing Journal (Amj)*, 28(4), 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ausmj.2020.03.002

Williams RJ, Connolly D. Does learning about the mathematics of gambling

change gambling behavior? Psychol Addict Behav. 2006;20:62-8

Wulfert, E., Maxson, J., & Jardin, B. (2009). Cue-specific reactivity in experienced gamblers.

Wood, R. D., Wohl, M. J. A., Tabri, N., & Philander, K. S. (2017). Measuring Responsible

Gambling amongst Players: Development of the Positive Play Scale. Frontiers in Psychology, 8.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00227

Appendices

Appendix A: Results of the preliminary experiment

Design 1: *Brand Believability*

Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
4.00	5.00	4.17	0.37	0.14
2.00	5.00	4.39	0.95	0.90
2.00	5.00	4.00	0.75	0.56
3.00	5.00	4.22	0.71	0.51
1.00	5.00	3.33	1.11	1.22
2.00	5.00	4.00	0.94	0.89
1.00	5.00	4.28	0.93	0.87
3.00	5.00	4.06	0.70	0.50
4.00	5.00	4.33	0.47	0.22
	Minimum 4.00 2.00 2.00 3.00 1.00 2.00 4.00	MinimumMaximum4.005.002.005.002.005.003.005.001.005.002.005.001.005.001.005.003.005.004.005.00	MinimumMaximumMean4.005.004.172.005.004.392.005.004.003.005.004.221.005.003.332.005.004.001.005.004.283.005.004.064.005.004.33	MinimumMaximumMeanStd Deviation4.005.004.170.372.005.004.390.952.005.004.000.753.005.004.220.711.005.003.331.112.005.004.000.941.005.004.280.933.005.004.060.704.005.004.330.47

Fluency

Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
This	3.00	5.00	4.39	0.68	0.46
advertisement					

is very easy					
to					
Information	3.00	5.00	1 30	0.68	0.46
contained in	5.00	5.00	4.37	0.00	0.40
this					
advertisement					
is congruent					
ana conerent This	3.00	5.00	4 33	0.82	0.67
advertisement	5.00	5.00	4.33	0.02	0.07
is very					
organized					
Information	2.00	5.00	4.17	0.76	0.58
containea in this					
advertisement					
is believable					

Realism:

Field	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
I find the advertisement for this brand to be realistic	3.00	5.00	4.28	0.65	0.42
I could imagine an actual advertisement as presented here.	3.00	5.00	4.50	0.69	0.47
I believe this advertisement could appear in real life.	4.00	5.00	4.61	0.49	0.24
I could imagine an actual company doing the things described in the advertisement.	3.00	5.00	4.50	0.69	0.47

Design 2: *Brand Believability*

Brana Belleval	Duity				
Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance

I find this	2.00	5.00	3.67	0.94	0.89
advertisement					
<i>I find this</i>	1.00	5.00	3.78	1.03	1.06
advertisement	1100	2100	0170	1100	1100
believable					
I find this	2.00	5.00	3.78	0.85	0.73
impressive					
I find this	1.00	5.00	3.94	1.08	1.16
advertisement					
attractive I find this	2.00	5.00	3 83	0.00	0.81
advertisement	2.00	5.00	5.05	0.70	0.01
informative					
I find this	1.00	5.00	3.83	1.07	1.14
advertisement clear					
I find this	3.00	5.00	4.11	0.74	0.54
advertisement					
eyecatching	1.00	5.00	2.04	1 10	1 20
advertisement	1.00	5.00	3.94	1.10	1.39
convincing					
I overall like	1.00	5.00	3.78	0.92	0.84
the appearance of					
the					
advertisement					

Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
This advertisement is very easy to understand	2.00	5.00	3.94	0.91	0.82
Information contained in this advertisement is congruent and coherent	1.00	5.00	3.89	1.05	1.10
This advertisement is very organized	2.00	5.00	4.28	0.87	0.76
Information contained in this advertisement is believable	1.00	5.00	3.83	1.01	1.03

Realism					
Field	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
I find the advertisement for this brand to be realistic	1.00	5.00	4.11	0.99	0.99
I could imagine an actual advertisement as presented here.	1.00	5.00	4.39	1.01	1.02
I believe this advertisement could appear in real life.	1.00	5.00	3.83	1.07	1.14
I could imagine an actual company doing the things described in the	3.00	5.00	4.11	0.74	0.54
advertisement.					

Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
I believe this celebrity would be in these advertisements in real life.	1.00	5.00	3.56	1.04	1.69
<i>This celebrity is fitting for the advertisement.</i>	1.00	5.00	3.72	1.33	1.76
The celebrity present in the advertisement would participate in these advertisements.	2.00	5.00	3.50	1.12	1.25
I recognize this celebrity.	3.00	5.00	4.61	0.59	0.35

Design 3: *Believability*

Believability					
Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance

find this advertisement appealing	3.00	5.00	4.50	0.60	0.36
I find this advertisement believable	2.00	5.00	4.56	0.76	0.58
find this advertisement impressive	4.00	5.00	4.39	0.49	0.24
I find this advertisement attractive	3.00	5.00	4.56	0.68	0,47
I find this advertisement informative	2.00	5.00	4.11	0.81	0.65
I find this advertisement clear	2.00	5.00	4.39	0.76	0.57
I find this advertisement evecatching	3.00	5.00	4.39	0.59	0.35
I find this advertisement	2.00	5.00	4.3	0.82	0.67
I overall like the appearance of the	3.00	5.00	4.61	0.59	0.35
uuvernsement					

Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
This advertisement is very easy to understand	4.00	5.00	4.67	0.47	0.22
Information contained in this advertisement is congruent and coherent	3.00	5.00	4.39	0.68	0.46
This advertisement is very organized	4.00	5.00	4.61	0.49	0.24
Information contained in this advertisement is believable	2.00	5.00	4.44	0.90	0.80

Realism					
Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
I find the advertisement for this brand to be realistic	2.00	5.00	4.44	0.76	0.58
I could imagine an actual advertisement as presented here.	2.00	5.00	4.56	0.76	0.58
I believe this advertisement could appear in real life.	2.00	5.00	4.39	0.95	0.90
I could imagine an actual company doing the things described in the	4.00	5.00	4.50	0.50	0.25
advertisement.					

Celebrity realism							
Statement	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance		
I believe this celebrity would be in these advertisements in real life.	3.00	5.00	4.39	0.59	0.35		
<i>This celebrity is fitting for the advertisement.</i>	4.00	5.00	4.94	0.23	0.05		
The celebrity present in the advertisement would participate in these advertisements.	3.00	5.00	4.33	0.67	0.44		
I recognize this celebrity.	2.00	5.00	4.61	0.76	0.57		

Designs warning message: *Most realistic:*

Design	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Variance
Design 1	1.00	3.00	1.72	0.80	0.65
Design 2	1.00	3.00	2.22	0.85	0.73
Design 3	1.00	3.00	2.06	0.70	0.50

Personal preference:

Design	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std	Variance
U				Deviation	
Design 1	1.00	3.00	1.83	0.76	0.58
Design 2	1.00	3.00	2.06	0.85	0.72
Design 3	1.00	3.00	2.11	0.81	0.65

Most effective

Design	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std	Variance
-				Deviation	
Design 1	1.00	3.00	1.94	0.85	0.72
Design 2	1.00	3.00	1.83	0.83	0.69
Design 3	1.00	3.00	2.22	0.71	0.51

Appendix B: Effect of Warning message on BA,PI and RG

	Warning message		
	Included: Design 4-6	Not included: Design 1-3	Sig.
Brand Attitude: Average Mean	M = 2.95, SD = 1.11	M = 3.09, SD = 1.05	
I think this brand is appealing	M = 3.1, SD = 1.15	M = 3.26, SD = 1.08	.351
I think this brand is good	M = 2.89, SD = 1.16	M = 2.98, SD = 1.06	.579
I think this brand is pleasant	M = 2.93, SD = .93	M = 3.12, SD = 1.03	.260
I would favor this brand over other's	M = 2.81 SD = .95	M = 2.92, SD = .94	.436
I think this brand is likeable	M = 3.08, SD = 1.20	M = 3.30, SD = 1.09	.195
I feel positive towards this brand	M = 2.91, SD = 1.24	M = 2.94, SD = 1.08	.832
Purchase Intention: Average Mean	M = 2.48, SD = 1.18	M = 2.58, SD = 1.28	

I have a high purchase intent for	M = 2.14,	M = 2.09,	.770
this service.	SD = 1.06	SD = 1.23	
I would probably use this service if I	M = 2.40,	M = 2.61,	.254
was in need.	SD = 1.24	SD = 1.42	
My purchases with this brand would	M = 2.49,	M = 2.51,	.900
make me content.	SD = 1.14	SD = 1.16	
If I were going to buy from this	M = 2.72,	M = 2.98,	.140
brand, the probability of buying this service is high	SD = 1.19	SD = 1.22	
The likelihood that I would purchase	eM = 2.41.	M = 2.53.	.484
from this brand is high	SD = 1.27	SD = 1.27	
Based on the advertisement, I would	M = 2.70,	M = 2.77,	.707
consider buying from GoalGoal.	SD = 1.19	SD = 1.35	
Responsible Gambling:	M = X,	$\overline{\mathbf{M}} = \mathbf{X},$	
Average Mean	SD = X	SD = X	
I should be aware of how	M = 4.57,	M = 4.52,	.708
much money I spend when I gamble.	SD = .72	SD = .86	
I should be able to	M = 4.68,	M = 4.55,	.223
walk away from gambling at any time.	SD = .68379	SD = .82	
I should only gamble when I have	M = 4.56,	M = 4.55,	.931
enough money to cover all my bills first.	SD = .74	SD = .86	
It's my responsibility to spend only	M = 4.44,	M = 4.43,	.910
money inai I can ajjora io iose.	SD = .75	5D = .89	
Gambling is not a good way to make	M = 4.30,	M = 4.19,	.425
money.	SD = .97	SD = 1.03	
My chances of winning gets worse	M = 4.28,	M = 4.30,	.898
after I have lost.	SD = 1.08	SD = .98	
If I gamble more often, it will not	M = 4.30,	M = 4.43,	.391
help me to win more than I lose.	SD = 1.11	SD = .91	
I am aware of the risks of gambling.	M = 4.58,	M = 4.50,	.424
	SD = .64	SD = .82	
I feel in control of my gambling	M = 4.50,	M = 4.27,	.054
behavior.	SD = .72	SD = .94	
I would be honest with my family	M = 3.92,	M = 3.48,	.008
and/or friends about the amount of money I spent gambling.	SD = 1.15	SD = 1.17	

I would be honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of time I spent gambling	M = 3.92, SD = 1.11	M = 3.52, SD = 1.17	.018
I would only gamble with money that I could afford to lose.	M = 4.44, SD = .78	M = 4.40, SD = .94	.699
I would only spend time gambling that I could afford to lose.	M = 4.12, SD = .99	M = 4.03 SD = 1.10	.562
I would consider the amount of money I was willing to lose before I gambled.	M = 4.37, SD = .87	M = 4.17, SD = 1.07	.166
I would consider the amount of time I was willing to spend before I gambled.	M = 4.00, SD = 1.02	M = 3.94, SD = 1.18	.715

Appendix C: Effect of celebrity presence on BA, PI & RG

	Celebrity		
	Present:	Absent:	Sig.
	Design 2,3,5,6	Design 1,4	-
Brand Attitude:	M = X,	M = X,	
Average Mean	SD = X	SD = X	
I think this brand is appealing	M = 3.29,	M = 2.94,	.040
	SD = 1.12	SD = 1.10	
I think this brand is good	M = 3.05,	M = 2.69,	.035
	SD = 1.09	SD = 1.13	
I think this brand is pleasant	M = 3.09,	M = 2.86,	.170
-	SD = 1.09	SD = 1.15	
I would favor this brand over	M = 2.94,	M = 2.70,	.106
other's	SD = .97	SD = .89	
I think this brand is likeable	M = 3.28,	M = 2.98,	.093
	SD = 1.14	SD = 1.18	
I feel positive towards this brand	M = 2.99,	M = 2.78,	.240
	SD = 1.19	SD = 1.13	
Purchase Intention:	M = X,	M = X,	
Average Mean	SD = X	SD = X	
I have a high purchase intent for	M = 2.18,	M = 2.00,	.304
this service.	SD = 1.21	SD = .98	
I would probably use this service if I	M = 2.55,	M = 2.38,	.378
was in need.	SD = 1.35	SD = 1.28	

My purchases with this brand wou make me content.	M = 2.58, SD = 1.14	M = 2.34, SD = 1.16	.183
If I were going to buy from this brand, the probability of buying th	M = 2.87, this $SD = 1,20$	M = 2.77, SD = 1.24	.586
service is high. The likelihood that I would purchc from this brand is high	seM = 2.37, SD = 1,23	M = 2.66, SD = 1.34	.137
Based on the advertisement, I wou consider buying from GoalGoal.	ld M = 2.82, SD = 1.28	M = 2.53, SD = 1.22	.126

Responsible Gambling:	M = X,	M = X,	
Average Mean	SD = X	SD = X	
I should be aware of how	M = 4.50,	M = 4.64,	.243
much money I spend when I gamble.	SD = 0.85	SD = .63	
I should be able to	M = 4.62,	M = 4.63,	.946
walk away from gambling at any	SD = .70	SD = .85	
time.			
I should only gamble when I have	M = 4.59,	M = 4.48,	.407
enough money to cover all my bills first.	SD = .74	SD = .91	
It's my responsibility to spend only	M = 4.44,	M = 4.44,	1.000
money that I can afford to lose.	SD = .81	SD = .79	
Gambling is not a good way to make	e M = 4.22,	M = 4.31,	.541
money.	SD = 1.05	SD = .89	
My chances of winning gets worse	M - 4.36	M - 4.16	202
after I have lost	M = 4.30, SD - 94	SD = 1.21	.202
ujier i nuve iosi.	50 = .)4	5D = 1.21	
If I gamble more often, it will not	M = 4.34,	M = 4.41,	.657
help me to win more than I lose.	SD = 1.03	SD = 1.03	
I am aware of the risks of gambling.	M = 4.56,	M = 4.52,	.676
	SD = .66	SD = .85	
I feel in control of my sambling	M = 4.41	M = 4.38	807
hehavior	SD = 84	SD = 83	
		50 100	
I would be honest with my family	M = 3.83,	M = 3.52,	.083
and/or friends about the amount of	SD = 1.09	SD = 1.32	
money I spent gambling.			
I would be honest with my family	M = 3.84,	M = 3.55,	.100
and/or friends about the amount of	SD = 1.12	SD = 1.18	
time I spent gambling			
I would only gamble with money	M = 4.43,	M = 4,41,	.858
that I could afford to lose.	SD = .80	SD = .95	
I would only spend time campling	M – 4 13	M - 3 98	353
that I could afford to lose	SD = 97	SD = 1.18	
	$\sim - \cdot \cdot \cdot$	SD = 1.10	

I would consider the amount of money I was willing to lose before I	M = 4.26, SD = .95	M = 4.33, SD = .99	.634
gambled.	M 2.00	M 204	715
I would consider the amount of time I was willing to	M = 3.99, SD = 1.03	M = 3.94, SD = 1.22	.745
spend before I gambled.			

Appendix D: Effect of celebrity congruence on BA, PI & RG

	Celebrity			
	Present:	Absent:	Sig.	
	Design 2,3,5,6	Design 1,4	C	
Brand Attitude:	M = X,	M = X,		
Average Mean	SD = X	SD = X		
I think this brand is appealing	M = 3.40,	M = 3.17,	.063	
	SD = 1.13	SD = 1.10		
I think this brand is good	M = 3.08,	M = 3.02,	.103	
	SD = 1.05	SD = 1.14		
I think this brand is pleasant	M = 3.15,	M = 3.03,	.322	
	SD = 1.08	SD = 1.11		
I would favor this brand over	M = 3.00,	M = 2.87,	.204	
other's	SD = .94	SD = 1.01		
I think this brand is likeable	M = 3.39,	M = 3.22,	.208	
	SD = 1.15	SD = 1.13		
I feel positive towards this brand	M = 3.11,	M = 2.87,	.264	
	SD = 1.16	SD = 1.12		
Purchase Intention:	M = X,	$\overline{\mathbf{M}=\mathbf{X}},$		
Average Mean	SD = X	SD = X		
I have a high purchase intent for	M = 2.20,	M = 2.16,	.579	
this service.	SD = 1.21	SD = 1.22		
I would probably use this service	M = 2.54,	M = 2.57,	.672	
if I was in need.	SD = 1.40	SD = 1.30		
My purchases with this brand	M = 2.55,	M = 2.60	.402	
would make me content.	SD = 1.21	SD = 1.07		
If I were going to buy from this	M = 2.96,	M = 2.76,	.542	
brand, the probability of buying this service is high.	SD = 1.31	SD = 1.07		
The likelihood that I would	M = 2.51,	M = 2.22,	.147	
purchase from this brand is high	SD = 1.32	SD = 1.11		

consider buying from GoalGoal.	SD = 1.34	SD = 1.21		
Responsible Gambling:	M = X,	M = X,		
Average Mean	SD = X	SD = X		
I should be aware of how	M = 4.57,	M = 4.43,	.303	
much money I spend when I gamble.	SD = .77	SD = .93		
I should be able to	M = 4.58,	M = 4.65,	.882	
walk away from gambling at any time.	SD = .73	SD = .68		
I should only gamble when I have	M = 4.63,	M = 4.54,	.577	
enough money to cover all my bills first.	SD = .67	SD = .80		
It's my responsibility to spend only	M = 4.51,	M = 4.37,	.606	
money that I can afford to lose.	SD = .79	SD = .83		
Gambling is not a good way to make	e M = 4.20,	M = 4.24,	.811	
money.	SD = 1.05	SD = 1.06		
My chances of winning gets worse	M = 4.37,	M = 4.35,	.441	
after I have lost.	SD = .95	SD = .94		
If I gamble more often, it will not	M = 4.34,	M = 4.33,	.906	
help me to win more than I lose.	SD = 1.02	SD = 1.05		
I am aware of the risks of gambling.	M = 4.55,	M = 4.57,	.908	
	SD = .69	SD = 64		
I feel in control of my gambling	M = 4.37,	M = 4.44,	.852	
behavior.	SD = .80	SD = .88		
I would be honest with my family	M = 3.86,	M = 3.79,	.211	
and/or friends about the amount of money I spent gambling.	SD = 1.12	SD = 1.06		
I would be honest with my family	M = 3.88,	M = 3.79,	.238	
and/or friends about the amount of time I spent gambling	SD = 1.14	SD = 1.11		
I would only gamble with money	M = 4.46,	M = 4.40,	.898	
that I could afford to lose.	SD = .66	SD = .93		
I would only spend time gambling	M = 4.25,	M = 4.02,	.297	
that I could afford to lose.	SD = .79	SD = 1.11		
I would consider the amount of	M = 4.22,	M = 4.33,	.787	
money I was willing to lose before I	SD = .96	SD = .99		
<i>gumulea.</i> <i>I would consider the amount of time</i>	M = 4.05.	M = 3.94.	.809	
I was willing to	SD = .99	SD = 1.08		
spend before I gambled.				

	Warning * Celebrity					
	Warning: 0 Celeb: 0	Warning: 0 Celeb: 1	Warning: 0 Celeb: 2	Warning: 1 Celeb: 0	Warning: 1 Celeb: 1	Warning: 1 Celeb: 2
Brand Attitude: Average Mean	M = , SD =	M = X, $SD = X$				
I think this brand is appealing	M = 2,93, SD = ,94	M = 3,03, SD = 1,12	M = 3,79, SD = ,98	M = 2,94, SD = 1,22	M = 3,29, SD = 1,09	M = 3,08, SD = 1,16
I think this brand is good	dM = 2,82, SD = ,88	M = 2,93, SD = 1.17	M = 3,17, SD = 1,00	M = 2,58, SD = 1,20	M = 3,09, SD = 1,14	M = 3,00, SD = 1,10
I think this brand is pleasant	M = 2.96 SD = ,.99	M = 3,00, SD = 1,04	M = 3,38, SD = 1,05	M = 2,78, SD = 1,27	M = 3,06, SD = 1,18	M = 2,97, SD = 1,08
I would favor this brand over other's	M = 2,57, SD = ,88	M = 2,93, SD = 1,03	M = 3,24, SD = ,79	M = 2,81, SD = ,89	M = 2,82, SD = ,99	M = 2,81, SD = 1,01
I think this brand is likeable	lM = 3,18, SD = 1,06	M = 3,10 SD = 1,14	M = 3,62, SD = 1,01	M = 2,83, SD = 1,25	M = 3,32, SD = 1,12	M = 3,11, SD = 1,21
I feel positive towards this brand	M = 2,86, SD = ,93	M = 2,72, SD = 1,19	M = 3,24, SD = 1,06	M = 2,72, SD = 1,28	M = 3,00, SD = 1,23	M = 3,00, SD = 1,24
Purchase Intention: Average Mean	M = X, $SD = X$	M = X, $SD = X$	M = X, $SD = X$	M = X, $SD = X$	M = X, $SD = X$	M = X, $SD = X$
I have a high purchase intent for this service.	M = 1,93, SD = ,98	M = 2,03, SD = 1,38	M = 2,31, SD = 1,31	M = 2,06, SD = ,98	M = 2,26, SD = 1,08	M = 2,11, SD = 1,14
I would probably use this service ij I was in need.	M = 2,36, M = 1,22	M = 2,59, SD = 1,45	M = 2,90, SD = 1,57	M = 2,39, SD = 1,34	M = 2,56, SD = 1,19	M = 2,25, SD = 1,20
My purchases with this brand would make me content.	M = 2,21, SD = 1,03	M = 2,59, SD = 1,09	M = 2.72, SD = 1.33	M = 2,44, SD = 1,25	M = 2,62, SD = 1,07	M = 2,42, SD = 1,11
If I were going to buy from this brand, the probability of buying this service is high.	0 M = 2,79 SD = 1,29	M = 2,79, SD = 1,08	M = 3,34, SD = 1,26	M = 2,75, SD = 1,22	M = 2,74, SD = 1,08	M = 2,67, SD = 1,29
The likelihood that I would purchase from this brand is high	M = 2,61, SD = 1,31	M = 2,31, SD = 1,17	M = 2,69, SD = 1,34	M = 2,69, SD = 1,36	M = 2,15, SD = 1,08	M = 2,36, SD = 1,31

Appendix E: Interaction effect of Warning Messages & Celebrities

Based on the advertisement, I would consider buying from GoalGoal.	M = 2,43, SD = 1,23	M = 2,72, SD = 1,28	M = 3,14, SD = 1,48	M = 2,61, SD = 1,23	M = 2,71, SD = 1,17	M = 2,78, SD = 1,22
Responsible Gambling: Average Mean	M = X, $SD = X$					
I should be aware of how much money I spend when I gamble.	M = 4,64, SD = ,73	M = 4,31, SD = 1,11	M = 4,62, SD = ,68	M = 4,64, SD = ,54	M = 4,53, SD = ,75	M = 4,53, SD = ,84
I should be able to walk away from gambling and any time.	M = 4,50, SD = 1,04	M = 4,59, SD = ,63	M = 4,55, SD = ,78	M = 4,72, SD = ,66	M = 4,71, SD = ,72	M = 4,61, SD = ,69
I should only gamble when I have enough money to cover all my bills first.	M = 4,39, SD = 1,07	M = 4,55, SD = ,83	M = 4,69, SD = ,66	M = 4,56, SD = ,77	M = 4,53, SD = ,79	M = 4,58, SD = ,69
It's my responsibility to spend only money that I can afford to lose.	M = 4,46, SD = ,88	M = 4,21, SD = ,98	M = 4,62, SD = ,78	M = 4,41, SD = ,73	M = 4,50, SD = ,66	M = 4,42, SD = ,81
Gambling is not a good way to make money.	M = 4,18, SD = ,94	M = 4,21, SD = 1,05	M = 4,17, SD = 1,14	M = 4,42, SD = ,84	M = 4,26, SD = 1,08	M = 4,22, SD = .99
My chances of winning gets worse after I have lost.	M = 4,07, SD = 1,21	M = 4,34, SD = ,90	M = 4,48, SD = ,78	M = 4,22, SD = 1,22	M = 4,35, SD = ,98	M = 4,28, SD = 1,06
If I gamble more often, it will not help me to win more than I lose.	M = 4,43, SD = ,96	M = 4,41, SD = ,95	M = 4,45, SD = ,87	M = 4,39, SD = 1,10	M = 4,26, SD = 1,14	M = 4,25, SD = 1,13
I am aware of the risks of gambling.	M = 4,32, SD = 1,09	M = 4,62, SD = ,62	M = 4,55, SD = ,69	M = 4,67, SD = ,59	M = 4,53, SD = ,66	M = 4,56, SD = ,69
I feel in control of my gambling behavior.	M = 4,21, SD = ,92	M = 4,17, SD = 1,07	M = 4,41, SD = ,82	M = 4,50, SD = ,74	M = 4,68, SD = ,59	M = 4,33, SD = ,79
I would be honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of money I spent gambling.	M = 3,11, SD = 1,20	M = 3,62, SD = 1,01	M = 3,69, SD = 1,23	M = 3,83, SD = 1,34	M = 3,94, SD = 1,10	M = 4,00, SD = 1,01

I would be honest with my family and/or friends about the amount of time I	M = 3,25, SD = 1,14	M = 3,66, SD = 1,08	M = 3,66, SD = 1,26	M = 3,78, SD = 1,17	M = 3,91, SD = 1,14	M = 4,06, SD = 1,01
I would only gamble with money that I could afford to lose.	M = 4,39, SD = 1,03	M = 4,31, SD = 1,07	M = 4,48, SD = ,69	M = 4,42, SD = ,91	M = 4,47, SD = ,79	M = 4,44, SD = ,65
I would only spend time gambling that I could afford to lose.	M = 3,96, SD = 1,20	M = 3,83, SD = 1,26	M = 4,31, SD = ,76	M = 4,00, SD = 1,17	M = 4,18, SD = ,97	M = 4,19, SD = ,82
I would consider the amount of money I was willing to lose before I gambled.	M = 4,21, SD = 1,10	M = 4,14, SD = ,99	M = 4,17, SD = 1,14	M = 4,42, SD = ,91	M = 4,44, SD = ,89	M = 4,25, SD = ,81
I would consider the amount of time I was willing to spend before I gambled.	M = 3,93, SD = 1,30	M = 3,79, SD = 1,15	M = 4,10, SD = 1,11	M = 3,94, SD = 1,17	M = 4,06, SD = 1,01	M = 4,00, SD = ,89

Appendix F: Models of outcomes of interaction effect on Purchase Intention and Responsible Gambling



Design